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Monday, February 28, 2011

--- On commencing at 10:37 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today regarding an application by Kingston Hydro Corporation filed under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking approval for changes to the rates that Kingston Hydro charges for electricity distribution to be effective May 1st, 2011.

The Board has assigned File No. EB-2010-0136 to this application.  And, to date, the Board has allowed for two rounds of interrogatories and a settlement conference.  The settlement conference took place on December 15th, 2010, and a partial settlement was achieved and approved by the Board with a number of issues settled.

The Board has convened this oral hearing today to address the remaining issues that were outlined in Procedural Order No. 2 dated January 18th, 2011.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. TAYLOR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Andrew Taylor.  I am counsel for the applicant.  With me are Brad Joyce, Jim Keech, Randy Murphy and Nancy Taylor from the utility.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for Energy Probe, and with me is David MacIntosh.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Aiken, Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. CONBOY:  I don't think we had your mic on that, but I am sure they have got your name down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That one works.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, Board counsel, along with Fiona O'Connell, Board Staff, and Mr. Thiessen, case manager, Board Staff.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, there are, Madam Chair.

The first is that in the applicant's application, there is an amount that has been built in for late payment penalty costs, and there was a decision last week in EB-2010-0295 in which the Board decided that applicants would recover these costs by way of a rate rider.

What we propose to do is reduce our OM&A budget for 2011 by $26,138, which was a quarter of their late payment penalty cost, because they have filed a rate rider proposal in accordance with the decision in EB-2010-0295.  What that does is it changes their OM&A budget for 2011 from 6,953,641 reduced by 26,138, resulting in 6,927,503.

That is my first preliminary issue.  Subject to any questions, I will move on to the second.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  The second preliminary issue pertains to the compendium of materials that we received last night at around midnight from Energy Probe.

I've got a concern about the compendium, because it is not just -- I haven't had time to review it, but what was pointed out to me is that on page 14 of 42, there appears to be a calculation that was prepared by Energy Probe.  I don't believe that this table --


MS. CONBOY:  Can I stop you right there for a minute, please, Mr. Taylor?  Could we have a look at that compendium, please?

MR. TAYLOR:  Oh, sorry about that.

MS. HELT:  We can mark the Energy Probe compendium as Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Ms. Helt.  Go ahead, Mr. Taylor.  Page 14 you were saying?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, page 14 of 42.  It is my understanding that this table has been prepared by -- and I may be wrong, but it has been prepared by Energy Probe.  It doesn't come from a Board report.

If that is the case, then I have a concern about new evidence being filed at the last minute.  We haven't had really an opportunity to assess this evidence.  We certainly don't have the expertise on the panel to speak to forecasting of cost of power.  We didn't have an opportunity, if this is new evidence, to file interrogatories on, you know, the assumptions made in determining these numbers.

And, therefore, subject to Energy Probe's comments, I would recommend or request that this table not be permitted in today's proceeding.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  I can make a few preliminary comments now, but it might be better to deal with this when I get to this area of my cross-examination.

But basically all of the information provided here is out of the October 2010 RPP price report.  I believe there is one calculation that divides one number by another, both of which are from the RPP price report.

So other than that, there is no other calculations or forecasts provided by Energy Probe.  These are simply the forecast numbers provided in the RPP price report.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  The latest version.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Would you like to reply to that, Mr. Taylor?

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, that may be the case and, like I said, I don't understand this well enough to speak to whether or not the calculation is something that should be considered new evidence, or not.

Maybe what we should do is wait until we get to that part of his cross-examination, or put off that part until after the lunch break when I have had an opportunity to discuss this in more detail with my clients, and I could speak to it at that point.

But I think this is complicated stuff and I think it is last minute.  There have been three rounds of interrogatories in this proceeding, and why this wasn't raised earlier, I don't know.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  If you would give me one minute, please.

[Board Panel Members consult]

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Aiken, we are going to give you the opportunity to explain this further when you get to that point in your cross-examination.  If it does present a problem answering any questions, Mr. Taylor, for your clients, then perhaps we can deal with it at that point and allow for a little bit more time to review the tables.

So we will proceed on that basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, sorry to interrupt.

If a ruling has to be made later about whether this document is admissible, we would like to make submissions on it, as well.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.  The third matter is that the applicant has budgeted $25,000 for intervenor costs in this proceeding; that is, $25,000 per intervenor.

I would request that the Board ask the intervenors whether or not our forecast is in the ballpark with what they would forecast their costs to be.  They're in the best position to know what their costs are, better than us.

So if we are budgeting $25,000 and we see cost claims at the end of this proceeding that are in the neighbourhood of $35,000 or $40,000, clearly we will have a deficiency there and that will be at the expense of the shareholder.

And I understand that forecasting might be difficult for them, but they have certainly done enough of these things that they should have a pretty good idea of what their costs would be.  I would only ask they do so on a best-efforts basis.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Perhaps as we -- as the intervenors are wrapping up their cross-examination, or later on at some point today or tomorrow, if you could provide Mr. Taylor with that estimate, best estimate?  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Madam Chair, I am not sure we agree that that is appropriate.

This proceeding and how much time we spend is controlled by the applicant.  They're the ones who make the case.  They make it longer or shorter.  We don't.

And so -- and I am happy to suggest what I think our best number is going to be, but I don't think that my friend should rely on it to set his budget.  It seems to me it is like anything else; they forecast it.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Aside from that, in terms of timing, assuming the Board is interested in getting forecasts from the intervenors on a most accurate basis, the best time would probably be after we do our written argument, because after that, the only thing left is comments on the draft order.  So that would be -- it wouldn't even be a forecast; it would be X plus an hour or two, or whatever.

Timing-wise that would be the best time to do it.  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the Board would also be interested on submissions as to whether or not this is an appropriate approach.  I think Madam Chair and I have discussed this just briefly here as to it may be best to have the intervenors comment on this from the perspective of the appropriateness, and whether or not this is something that -- it is a departure from the past practice, and we would like to hear from the intervenors as to the appropriateness of it as they are making their –- as we go through the terms of the cross-examinations today, and then the Board will be -- will hear on that, and at that point determine whether or not it will be asking for the information, or not.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  Those are my preliminary issues.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Taylor, would you like to call your witness panel, swear your witness panel in?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  We have actually provided you with CVs for all of the panel members, and perhaps they could be marked as an exhibit.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps we could mark the exhibit -- or the CVs of all four Kingston Hydro witnesses as Exhibit K.2 -- or, I'm sorry, 1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CVS OF KINGSTON HYDRO WITNESS PANEL.

MS. HELT:  That will be the CV of Randy Murphy, Bradley Joyce, Nancy Taylor and James Keech, as Exhibit K1.2.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, before my friend gets started, I am reminded that, as you know, we have another proceeding in the other room, and I was asked -- and forgot to advise the Panel that that proceeding is reconvening at 1:00 o'clock.  If it is convenient for this Board Panel to have a lunch break around that time, that would be very serendipitous.  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  That will be fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ready to have your panel sworn, Mr. Taylor?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.
KINGSTON HYDRO CORPORATION - PANEL 1


Bradley Joyce; Sworn


James Keech; Sworn


Randy Murphy; Sworn


Nancy Taylor; Sworn


MR. TAYLOR:  So Madam Chair, before we begin the cross-examination, Mr. Keech has some comments in-chief that he would like to make, with your permission.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Keech.
Evidence-In-Chief by Mr. Keech:

MR. KEECH:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle, Madam Chair.

As noted earlier, my name is Jim Keech, and I am president and CEO of Kingston Hydro, the applicant.

I would like to take a few minutes to first introduce my panel, my team I have with me here today, and then make some comments in regard to our application and Kingston Hydro, specifically on the history of the utility, because I think that makes us unique from a number of other utilities, and then comment on a couple of the significant outstanding issues, that being op-ex and cap-ex.

So to start with the introductions, the furthest person from me is Nancy Taylor.  Nancy is the vice-president of Kingston Hydro, and has really been my right-hand person since incorporation in 2000.

Nancy is responsible for the overall regulatory oversight of the utility, along with a number of other duties, and will be responding to a number of questions of a general regulatory nature today.

Nancy has a master's degree in health sciences, and comes to us with a background in health and safety in both the industrial settings and the utility settings.  And she has been with Kingston Hydro and our predecessors for about 20 years.

On my left is Brad Joyce.  Brad is responsible for the operations of the electric utility, so the line department substations, underground utilities and networks.  Brad has been with us for about 10 years in a number of various roles, and today he will be responding to questions regarding operation, maintenance and capital improvements.

The other member of the panel is Randy Murphy, on my right.  Randy is our CFO for Kingston Hydro.  Randy is responsible for the financial side of the utility, and he has a background in public accounting and was senior manager in the tax side of the business that he left before joining us.

Randy has brought an incredible amount of valuable experience to us, and as a result, he has overall responsibility for the rate application that has been produced and we are here to look at today.

And we will be answering a number of questions that are more related to some of the technical issues of the application, but will probably be providing input in a number of areas.

And Nancy and myself and Randy are officers of the corporation, Kingston Hydro.  Kingston Hydro, as you are probably aware, is not a large utility.  We have less than 30,000 customers.  And as a result of that, we do not have sophisticated in-house regulatory expertise.  None of us here on the panel I would classify as regulatory experts, and none of our supporting staff, a number of who are here today, would be classified as regulatory experts.

In fact, none of us have actually been involved in a process such as this, testifying for a rate application, and I think it is important that the Board and the intervenors recognize this.

To be honest, I would have to say that we are a bit apprehensive and maybe a little bit nervous as we sit in a room with people who we feel are regulatory experts and do this on a daily basis, and we hope at the end of the day that we will be judged more on being expert utility managers, as opposed to the sophistication of our rate application in this proceeding.

We are also hoping to convince you that our application is driven by a genuine attempt to restore our system so that we can provide our customers with the safe, reliable service that we think they deserve, and also our employees with a safe, healthy, balanced work environment for them to work in.

As I mentioned earlier, I want to talk a little bit about the history of the utility.  This rate application is extremely important to us, extremely important to us, and a lot of that is a result of the history.

Kingston, as you may know, is a very old city.  It's one of the oldest cities in the country.  We have a lot of history, we have a lot of old infrastructure, and some of the history is around the attempt to keep rates as low as possible over the course of the years.

Historically, Kingston Hydro and its predecessors have invested in a system based on a very unique top-down approach, and the priorities to that have been, first off, keeping rates low; secondly, providing service to our customers, and by that I mean to new customers, doing the work and the expense necessary to hook up new customers to our system, and then and only then spending the money that is left over on the infrastructure improvements that may be required.

So we have really had a historic run-to-end-of-life, run-to-failure, "don't fix it if it isn't broke" philosophy, and that, associated with the top-down budgeting approach, has taken a role in the operational integrity of our system.

Yes, our rates have been kept low, but the neglect to our infrastructure renewable is regrettable.

So along with the historical pressure on keeping rates, there are a couple of events that happened in the 1990s to 2000 that I think is also very important that the Board is aware of in the context of this rate application.

And they are a municipal amalgamation process that the Kingston area went through in 1998, and that was followed up very quickly with the incorporation process that our industry went through in 2000.

I just want to take a minute and talk about the impact that that had on us.  And as I said, in the 1990s there was significant political pressure on us to keep expenses as low as possible.  And this was from the municipal level of government and the province.  Then as we entered into the mid-1990s through to 1997, '98, it was evident that an amalgamation process was going to take place in the Kingston area and that was going to involve the former Public Utilities Commission.

There was pressure on us from our political leaders at the time to keep expenses low, because the thinking was with amalgamation, there was going to be very extensive efficiencies achieved, there would be a significant reduction in staff, and just overall expenses would be lower.  So as we headed into this, we did the best we could to keep expenses at the lowest level.

Immediately following amalgamation, we went into the changes that have affected our electric industry, with the White Paper of the Energy Competition Act, and in Kingston, as I think probably in a number of other communities, there was thought given to the possible sale of the electric utility.

And the direction that we got at that time from our political leaders, that if there was going to be a sale, they wanted the impact on staff to be at a minimum.  What I mean by that is, if a sale happened, they wanted staff levels to be kept to a minimum so there would be less staff affected.

So, as a result of that, we made our best efforts to keep staffing levels and expenses to a minimum, and what that resulted in, the point I am trying to get to here, is that in 1999, the year of our initial unbundling, the year that we initially set our rates as a corporation, our operating expenses were the lowest level that they had been since 1990, and this was an artificially low operating expense.

So, as a result of that, it ended up creating a perception of a higher than actual rate of return as the operating expenses, as I say, were artificially rolled out from the events that had taken placed.

This problem then was perpetuated in 2006, since our 2006 application was based on 2014 actuals.  So the history did result in lower rates, and you can note this from the evidence that is based on the Board's own reports, where our delivery rates are ranked the lowest of 15 members in our cohorts.

Our own analysis indicates that our rates are 76th lowest of 83 LDCs and that the gross capital assets invested in Kingston Hydro Corporation rate base at the end of 2010 is 46.4 million.  That compares to another LDC of similar size whose assets can be as high as 100 million.

My final comment on rates is, if you do a comparison to our rates in the City of Kingston and Hydro One's rates in the City of Kingston, ours are half of what Hydro rates are, just talking about delivery rates.

The filed evidence at Exhibit 2 has a number of pictures that I hope the Board will take the opportunity to look at as we go through today and your deliberations.  I think it is a very good representation of the state of the infrastructure in the City of Kingston.

As I said, this proceeding is extremely important to us.  We feel this is the first opportunity we have to fix this situation.

That being said, we are very conscious of the customer impacts that this application may result in, but we firmly believe that if we are not successful, the basic services that we provide our customers is at risk, as well as possibly the safety of our employees.

We understand how the Board is mindful of rate impacts, but I must impress that if you look at our application and the history that I have talked about, this is more than just a year-over-year increase analysis.  It is about starting to restore what is broken.  It is about trying to repair and fix all of the practices.  It is about me moving from being reactive to proactive to address reliability concerns of the safety of our employees and our customers.

In the past, we have been reactive, no doubt.  We need to change to be proactive.  We need to catch up on capital improvements to our systems, and also our maintenance practices.

So turning to the outstanding issues, we believe there are two primary issues, that being cap-ex and op-ex.  There are some other issues where no settlement was reached, but, as I indicated earlier, I would classify these as more of a technical nature.

The proposed increases to op-ex are linked to those of cap-ex, and the proposed increase to op-ex are directly related to staff increases.  We are well aware that we have a number of staffing increases in this application.

The growth in our staff levels is generally related to the areas of technical services, trades and support to those services, not in what would be referred to as the soft areas.  Trades and technical staff require an overlap to facilitate reasonable transfer of knowledge and skills, and the approximate ratio of trades, technical staff to the others is about 72 percent that we are looking for this application.

Another issue that is driving an increase to op-ex is the increasing complexity of this industry.  I think all of us would agree this is an industry that has become increasingly more complex than what it was a number of years ago.

This complexity is driving -- this complexity is requiring us to grow to meet the administrative and regulatory demands that we find upon us.  And by "demands", I am not talking of the demands, regulatory demands, of the Board here, but more so the demands of agencies outside.  Particularly, a good example is the construction and safety regulations that we are currently under that we did not used to be.

We are well aware that the addition of the number of staff noted may be of concern to the parties here, but they are essential for the implementation of the much-needed renewal, not just to -- not just for today, but over the next four years when we will get the next opportunity for rebasing.

Regarding cap-ex, as I have noted earlier, our system has historically lacked investment in this area.  We see this application as a mechanism to bring the system to a reasonable state of -- to address reliability and, more importantly, safety issues.  And I stress "reasonable state".

I hope the Board does not see this as gold plating, because this is not.  This is to return our system to a reasonable state and to allow us to plan to take that forward.

Many of the elements in our application are about building for today, with a long-term view for the future.  We trust we have put together a plan to deliver safe, reliable electric distribution services at a reasonable price for our customers, because that is our mission.

We have provided as much information as we could in response to the technical questions from Board Staff in the interrogatories, and the intervenors, and we are here today to defend our position on cap-ex, op-ex and the other remaining more technical issues.

So in conclusion to my remarks, again, I just want to stress the importance of this to us to create a sustainable utility as we go forward, and I want to thank you for the opportunity to address the Board and I appreciate the opportunity.  Thanks.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Keech.  Are you ready for cross-examination?  I understand the intervenors have worked out an order for cross-examination?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, Ms. Conboy, and as the last time I appeared before you, I was volunteered to go first.

MS. CONBOY:  Lucky you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Panel members, witnesses, you have the compendium which has been labelled Exhibit K1.1.  You will need that to refer to it during my cross-examination.

You will also need the package of material that Mr. Taylor sent outdated February 4th, 2011.  This was the update to the evidence.  It has three appendices attached to it, and is about 50 pages long, I believe.

There are seven issues that were not settled in this proceeding.  These issues are shown in Procedural Order No. 2.  I expect to proceed through these issues in basically the same order as they are shown in that procedural order.

So if you start with Procedural Order No. 1, that issue -- sorry, Issue No. 1, that issue is:
"Is it appropriate to use the half-year rule for depreciation for the years 2005-2010 as proposed by Kingston Hydro in its application?"


So if we could start with Exhibit 1, tab 4, schedule 3, page 2, and this is page 1 of the compendium, I believe lines 6 through 11 state this issue quite clearly.

The first sentence states that for financial statement purposes, Kingston Hydro applies a full year of amortization in the year of acquisition.  The sentence then goes on to state that this is in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

My first question is:  Are other methods of calculating depreciation on assets in the year of acquisition, such as the beginning -- such as beginning to record depreciation in the month the asset is placed into service, also in accordance with CGAAP?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Then in Exhibit 1, the second sentence in that paragraph I referred you to, states that:
"To comply with regulatory accounting for rate-making purposes, the amortization expense calculated in the year of acquisition should follow the half-year rule."


Can you please explain where this regulatory accounting principle is stated?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  Yes, I can.

In preparing our application, we looked at the filing requirements that were issued by the Board, and on page 20 -- excuse me, section 2.5.7 of the filing requirements issued June 28th, 2010, the third bullet point, which is actually on page 21 of those requirements --


MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, let me interrupt you there.  That is on page 2 of my compendium; is that correct?  And it is the second bullet point there?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, yes.  The Board stated that their general policy for rate-setting is that capital additions would normally attract six months i.e., a half-year of depreciation expense, in the year that they enter service.

And in looking at this, I don't believe that the filing requirements for 2010 stated this.

So that was a change from the filing requirements from one year to the other, so that, to us, reinforced the fact that the Board expected us to use the half-year rule, and that is why we complied with that.

MR. AIKEN:  And then in reference to that bullet point, it goes on to state that the applicant should identify its historical practice in this proposal for the test year.  So I just wanted to touch on that for a moment.

For the test year, 2011, you have applied the half-year rule; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And for financial statement purposes, will Kingston Hydro be moving to the half-year rule, or will you be staying with the full-year rule?  Again, this is for 2011.

MR. MURPHY:  For 2011, we haven't made that determination yet.

MR. AIKEN:  So it is possible you may be staying with your current practice of a full-year depreciation on assets acquired in the year?

MR. MURPHY:  That's a possibility.  One of the things that we like to do is to try to keep things mirrored for the rate application and regulatory accounting for Canadian accounting, as well.

So it is also possible we could change to the half-year rule.

MR. AIKEN:  Turning specifically to your historical practice now, if you could turn to page 3 of the compendium, this is a response to an Energy Probe Interrogatory.

I take it by the responses provided here that the full-year rule was used by Kingston Hydro to set 2006 rates; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  And the response provided on page 4 of the compendium, which is another Energy Probe Interrogatory, in particular part (b), indicates that same response; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  I would like to step back for a moment and summarize what I believe to be the case related to the different depreciation methodologies being used.

Am I correct that the net book value of the assets for financial statement purposes from 2005 through 2010 is lower than the net book value of those same assets for regulatory purposes, based on your proposal?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The financial statement GAAP statements, the net book value would be lower than for ratemaking purposes.

MR. AIKEN:  Which depreciation methodology -- and by that I mean the half-year rule or the full-year rule on acquisitions in the current year -- has Kingston Hydro used in its RRR filings?

MR. MURPHY:  Our RRR filings would have used the full-year rule, consistent with our financial statement reporting.

MR. AIKEN:  The evidence is that the 2006 rates -- and I think you confirmed this earlier -- were set based on a full year of depreciation being included in the revenue requirement for the 2006 test year; did I get that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's right.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.

And since 2006, your rates have been adjusted on a price cap mechanism?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree that your rates from 2006 through 2010 include a revenue requirement component that is based on the depreciation methodology you used for 2004, which was the full year of depreciation assets acquired in that year?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, I would agree with that.  However, the amount in our revenue requirement for depreciation is much, much lower than what we have reinvested during this same time.

So we don't believe that we are recovering those invested assets in our current rates, over the IRM period.

MR. AIKEN:  So you have obviously done an analysis on your depreciation expenses.  Have you done a similar analysis on your OM&A, taxes, capital expenditures, all the factors built into your existing rates?

MR. MURPHY:  Not with respect to this issue.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Isn't the result of your proposal to retroactively change the depreciation methodology for 2005 through 2010 that ratepayers will have paid for an allocation of this depreciation expense based on the full-year methodology included in the 2006 base rates and continued under IRM in 2007 through 2010, and now you are asking these same ratepayers to pay a cost of capital on a portion of these same assets?

MR. MURPHY:  No, we don't believe that is the case.

During the IRM period, 2005 through 2010, our depreciation expense in our rates would have been approximately 8.7 million, and over the same period, we have invested over 20 million in our assets.

So we don't believe that the ratepayers are double-paying.  We believe that the majority of our additions aren't in rate base, and that is why we used the half-year rule.

MR. AIKEN:  Are you aware of any other utilities who have retroactively changed to the half-year rule when they have rebased?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  Two recent decisions, Ottawa River Power and Renfrew Hydro, had the exact same issue as we did, their 2010 rebasing.  Renfrew Hydro is EB-2009-0146, and Ottawa River is EB-2009-0165.

And in both of those decisions, Board Staff indicated that Ottawa River and Renfrew Hydro had followed the guidelines and they had no issue with what those applicants had done.  As well, in both of those decisions, the Board ruled that the half-year rule was appropriately applied for ratemaking purposes, as opposed to financial statement purposes, which is what we have done.  The issues are identical.

MR. AIKEN:  If I could have you turn back to page 4 of the compendium, this is part (c) of the response.

In that response, Kingston provided an estimate of the 2011 rate base, assuming that the full-year methodology was employed in 2005 through 2010, with a half-year rule applied in 2011; have I got that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And the resulting rate base shown there is 42,683,161.  I should explain that is on page 6 of the compendium.

So it is 42,683,161, is the estimate of rate base under that scenario.  And the figure based on the Kingston Hydro methodology shown in Exhibit 2, tab 4 –- sorry, Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 2, attachment 1, page 2, is 43,142,543.  You don't have to pull that up.

So subject to check, there would be a reduction in rate base of a little bit more than 459,000 if the full-year methodology was left in place?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And that is approximately 1 percent of your rate base?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, that response I just took you to was based on the original evidence.  Since then, we have had a settlement agreement that dealt with the bridge year capital additions.  And my recollection is that the actual capital additions in 2010 were approximately 3.2 million, rather than about 4.4 million in the original filing; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Could I ask for an undertaking, then, to update the response to part (c) of the Interrogatory response to Energy Probe to reflect the 2010 capital additions, as agreed to in the settlement agreement?

MR. MURPHY:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I would like an undertaking for you to provide an update to the response to part (c) of the Energy Probe Interrogatory that we just looked at.  I am just looking for the number.  It is Energy Probe No. 5.  To reflect the 2010 capital additions, as agreed to in the settlement agreement, rather than what is included now, which was your forecast for 2010.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  That can be noted as Undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  to UPDATE RESPONSE TO PART (C) OF ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY NO. 5 TO REFLECT THE 2010 CAPITAL ADDITIONS, AS AGREED TO IN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  I am moving on to Issue No. 2.  That issue is:

"Should the cost of power estimate for the determination of working capital allowance be based on the most current values (November, 2010 to October, 2011) as proposed by Kingston Hydro in the application, or the most current projected values (May, 2011 to April, 2012)?

My first question on this issue has to do with the wording of the issue itself.  The values for November 2010 to October 2011 are referred to as the most current values, while the values for May 2011 to April 2012 are referred to as the most current projected values.

Can you explain the difference?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  In the Board filing guidelines at section 2.3.4 with respect to allowance for working capital, it simply says cost of power estimates, i.e., RPP and non-RPP and transmission rates should be identified.

In our original submission, the RPP number that was used was the number from the April report issued by the Board to be effective for the RPP pricing to come into effect on May 1st.

Subsequently, we have, in response to an Interrogatory, updated our evidence to reflect the RPP pricing that was issued by the Board on October 18th for RPP pricing to come into effect on November 1st.

It is our understanding, in the absence of any further guidance, that that is the practice that utilities have been adopting, is using the numbers that have been inputs to the RPP forecast in the most current period of their rate application.

MR. AIKEN:  Given that these numbers - when I say "these numbers", I mean from November 2010 through April 2012, so I am taking both periods into account - they're both sourced from the regulated price plan report, as you have noted, the October 2010 report.  Would it not be true that all of the figures provided in that report are projections or forecasts?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to pages 7 through 9 of the compendium, here I have included the relevant pages from that October 18th regulated price plan report.

You will also need to turn up pages 10 through 13 of the compendium.  This is the reply to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 13. Specifically, at page 11 of the compendium, the second page of the IR response, in the table -- this is the table provided in part (d) of the response.  That table uses the RPP and non-RPP prices -- or, sorry, rates from the October RPP report.

In particular, you see the RPP price of 60 -- sorry, the RPP of 68.38 and the non-RPP rate of 65.61.  Do you see both of those?  Okay.

Now, the RPP rate is taken directly from the RPP price report shown at page 8 of the compendium; is that correct?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And can you, for clarity for everyone in the room, explain how the 65.61 non-RPP price is calculated based on the figures provided at page 8 of the compendium?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  It is my understanding that -- sorry.  Excuse me.  Did you say non-RPP or RPP?

MR. AIKEN:  Non-RPP.

MS. TAYLOR:  It is my understanding that the non-RPP price is determined by the hourly energy price that is in the report issued by the Board and which is 39.23, and that you then add in the global adjustment estimate of 26.38 to arrive at 65.61.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  At page -- back to page 11 of the compendium, the weighted average price in that table in the response to part (d) is 6.694 cents per kilowatt-hour.

Then on the following page, this weighted average is used to calculate the commodity cost of power in the top of table 3.  So that is page 12 of the compendium.

And if you look at the first block of lines and the last three columns for -- that are there for 2011, the total commodity cost of power is 48 million, I think, 751,100.

Am I correct that then the rate base impact of this is 15 percent of this number, or about 7.3 million?

MS. TAYLOR:  That's my understanding.

MR. AIKEN:  And then in your updated filing from the February 4th letter, your requested test year rate base is now about 42.4 million.  And so by my calculation, that means that the working capital allowance for the commodity cost of power alone represents more than 17 percent of your total rate base.

Would you agree that this is a significant portion of rate base?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Given the significance, does Kingston Hydro agree that it is important to use the best information available to forecast the cost of power?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, we do.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  In part (e) of the Energy Probe response -- or, sorry, the response to the Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 13, and this is on page 13 of the compendium, Kingston Hydro indicates that:
"The November 2010 through October 2011 prices are the most suitable reflection for the 2011 Test year which serves as the basis for rates for the 2011 rate year."


Let me ask you this.  What months are you referring to when you talk about the 2011 rate year?

MR. MURPHY:  It is commencing May 1st, 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So it is the May through April period is the rate year, okay.  That is what I had expected.

If there was a forecast for the RPP and non-RPP cost of power that better reflected the costs for the rate year, would Kingston Hydro agree that it should be used?

MS. TAYLOR:  I think, as we mentioned earlier, I am not expert at forecasting cost of power, but it strikes me, on reading the report of the Board that was issued October 18th, that we don't have all of the information yet in order to forecast beyond April 30th of 2011, specifically because it seems that the other adjustment that needs to get made every six months is on the global adjustment number.  And at this point, it is not forecast as to whether that is going to be higher or lower.

So I am not sure that we currently -- I think we are using the best available comprehensive information in our current rate application.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, would you agree that the foundation for both the RPP and non-RPP price shown in the table from the RPP price forecast on page 8 of the compendium is the forecast wholesale electricity price, the 39.23 you referred to earlier?

MS. TAYLOR:  The 39.23?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  I think the 39.23, in combination with the global adjustment figure that is forecast to the end of that period, would be the most accurate price to use.

MR. AIKEN:  But my question was:  Do you believe that the forecast wholesale electricity price is the starting point of the foundation for the calculation of both the RPP and non-RPP prices?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, I do.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And this forecast wholesale electricity price is based on the report shown on table 1 from the RPP price report.  This is page 9 of the compendium.  Do you agree that table 1 provides a forecast for this rate through April 2012?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, I do.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now I am going to have you turn to page 14 of the compendium.

What I propose to do here, Madam Chair, is lead the witnesses and Mr. Taylor through the calculations, where the numbers come from, how the calculations are done, and basically leave it at that.

And maybe after the lunch break, he can get back to us as to whether he still has issues with these figures.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  First of all, this page shows two sets of calculations that I have put together based on the RPP price report.

I am going to take you through the calculations and where the numbers come from, the calculations that are done, on the first set of calculations that are on the left-hand side.  The calculations on the right-hand side are similar, but I don't need to lead everybody through that.

So looking at page 14 of the compendium, this is for May 2011 through April 2012.  The first four sets of numbers that show the three months and the price, those four sets of numbers are taken from the RPP price report, which are shown on page 9 of the compendium for those relevant quarters.

The weighted average below is exactly that.  It is the weighted average of the four sets of numbers above.  That is the $36.12.

The global adjustment is the 26.38, shown from page 8 of the compendium.  That is the only forecast we have for the global adjustment.

And using the same methodology as Ms. Taylor went through before, when you add the weighted average and the global adjustment, you get a forecast on the non-RPP price.

The next line, the load-weighted price for RPP consumers, the 42.16, that is taken from the RPP report, as is the next line, 39.23, as the forecast wholesale electricity price.

The following line is the ratio.  So it is the 42.16 divided by 39.23.  This shows the ratio of the load-weighted price to the wholesale electricity price.

The next line, 36.12, that is the May through April weighted average that was calculated above.

You multiply that by the 1.0746 number, and you get the next line, the May through April load-weighted price for RPP consumers of 38.82.

The next three lines are taken directly from the RPP price report, that being the global adjustment and the two adjustments, and that comes up with an RPP price number of 65.04.

The next line, the weighted average, 51.84 percent non-RPP, et cetera, that is based on the same weighting factors as Kingston Hydro has used to come up with a price of 63.72.

The next line just shows the difference between that and the weighted average price that Kingston Hydro has used, and the last line shows that difference multiplied by the difference in the gas costs -- or, sorry, to calculate the difference in the gas costs, with the 728 million kilowatt-hours used in the cost-of-power forecast.

So to put something on the record, would you take, subject to check, that these calculations are correct?  You could argue later whether they're appropriate, but are the calculations correct?  That would be my question.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. AIKEN:  It's been pointed out to me --


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Taylor, could you ask your witness --confer with the witness on the record, please.

MR. TAYLOR:  I was just asking the witnesses whether or not they had the ability to make a determination as to whether or not the calculation was correct.  And I understand the answer is yes, they can do that.

However, I understand, though, that the panel has a question regarding one of the lines in the table.

MR. AIKEN:  It might be the one line I was going to correct.  The gas costs on the last line should not be gas costs; it should commodity costs.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  It is from too many years in the gas industry.

MS. TAYLOR:  Subject to check, we could confirm the calculations.

MR. AIKEN:  I want to point out the second set of calculations shown on page 14 are done in the same manner, except they're done for the calendar year, January through December, as you will see in the heading.

One final area of questions on this issue.

In the settlement agreement, the load forecast update shown in the response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 12(h) was accepted for settlement purposes.

This forecast incorporated updated economic forecasts and a correction to the large-use class.

My first question on this is:  The correction to the large-use class reduced the forecast by about 2.1 million kilowatt-hours.  Does this reduction need to be reflected in the kilowatt-hour forecast used to calculate the commodity cost of power?  Or was the correct figure used in the original calculation?

MS. TAYLOR:  I will have to check.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And I might come back to that in a moment as part of an undertaking.

The second question is:  The updated economic forecast resulted in an increase in the kilowatt-hour forecasts for the residential GS less-than-50, GS greater-than-50 and large-use classes, by about 1.3 million kilowatt-hours, based on my quick addition of those.  Would you undertake to update the commodity cost of power for 2011 provided in the response to Energy Probe No. 13, part (d) -- which is page 12 of the compendium, basically that seven or eight lines in the last three columns of table 3 -- to reflect both the large-use correction, if required, and the updated forecast for the other classes, and the related changes for line losses?

In other words, I am looking for an updated number to the 48.751 million, based on whatever the current kilowatt-hour forecast should be used.

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, we can.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  to UPDATE COMMODITY COST OF POWER FOR 2011 PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO ENERGY PROBE NO. 13(D) TO REFLECT BOTH THE LARGE-USE CORRECTION, IF REQUIRED, AND THE UPDATED FORECAST FOR THE OTHER CLASSES, AND RELATED CHANGES FOR LINE LOSSES, BASED ON WHATEVER THE CURRENT KILOWATT-HOUR FORECAST SHOULD BE USED.

MR. AIKEN:  I am going on to Issue 3.  That issue is:

“Are the 2011 capital expenditures proposed by Kingston Hydro in the application appropriate?"

If I could have you turn to page 15 of the compendium, this information was put together based on the evidence and some of the Interrogatory responses in the Settlement Agreement.

The first line shows the actual capital additions for 2005 through 2009, along with the original forecast for the bridge and test years.

The second line under column -- under the "2010" column reflects the agreed-to bridge year capital additions from the settlement agreement -- that is the 3.2 million --and the corresponding figure in the 2011 column on that second line is the updated capital addition forecast from the February 4th letter.

Do those numbers all look correct to you?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes, they do.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the main reason for the reduction in the 2010 capital additions was that instead of paying -- I think the number was $609,000 to Hydro One for the Gardiner TS expansion, Kingston Hydro actually received a refund of 121,000 from Hydro One?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  In addition to the Hydro One difference, there was also a reduction related to some vehicles and asset condition studies that were not undertaken in 2010; is that also correct?

MR. JOYCE:  If you're referring to the settlement, we did remove the two vehicles.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And that is reflected in the response to VECC Interrogatory No. 46, I believe?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, the updated forecast for 2011 is an increase of $920,500.

Could I have you turn to the February 4th letter, and appendix A, and table 1 in appendix A?

This shows the projects, the 2011 projects that add up to the 5.4 million.

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the increase in the net is the net impact of three changes?  And we are talking about the 920,000.

The first change is that there is a reduction in the 2011 forecast of $110,000 for the Fairway Hills pole trans project, and this is a project that was actually completed in 2010?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That, I should note, is noted in the paragraph preceding table 1 in appendix A.

Second, there is an increase of $62,500 in the 2011 capital additions, and that is related to the enterprise asset management system which was forecast for 2010, but not placed into service by the end of 2010; is that correct?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And that is shown in the second-last line in that table 1.

So just stopping there, these two projects deal with timing issues, and there is a net reduction in the capital expenditures of just under $50,000 as a result of those two?

MR. JOYCE:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the third change is the addition of substation number 3, circuit breakers project.  This is for $968,000.  This is the third-last line in the table.

MR. JOYCE:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Right.  Am I correct that the reason Kingston Hydro has increased 2011 capital additions is because of the availability of funds that were not required to be spent in 2010?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So my first basic question, then, on this new project is:  Why was the substation number 3 project not included in the original 2011 capital addition forecast?

MR. JOYCE:  Our approach on the capital projects is a top-down approach.  We recognize that this is quite different than most utilities, in that our projects are selected on the basis of the availability of funds.

So when we set our capital budget, we are looking at whether or not we can borrow that, if we have the borrowing capacity, as well as, in this application, we are trying to provide a bit of a smoothing out of our capital expenditures over the next few years.

So the substation number 3 project, although it was identified in an Interrogatory from the Board in the first round whereby it was asked if we would -- what project would we do if we had another half-million dollars, we did indicate that it would be substation number 3.

So our projects are based on our ability to have the funding to do by way of the backlog projects to do.  Our capital infrastructure is such that that is the situation that we are faced with.

So where this is freed up that availability of funds over the 2010-2011 capital years, then we just move to spend and invest in that infrastructure and deal with that project.

MR. AIKEN:  If you could go back to page 15 of the compendium, the summary of the capital additions?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  I am going to ask you, again, to check some numbers, subject to check.

Would you agree that the updated 2011 capital addition forecast, the 5.4 million, is a roughly 69 percent higher than the actual additions in 2010?  That is part 1 of the subject-to-check request.

Part 2 is that the forecast is 17 percent higher than the highest level of additions shown in the 2005 through 2010 period, which would be the 2009 figure of 4.6 million.

And the third part is that the 2011 forecast is more than 31 percent above the average of the three highest years which are shown in that line item on that table.  Would you take those three sets of numbers, subject to check?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Does Kingston Hydro believe that capital programs should, in general -- when I say "in general", I mean with the exception of, you know, a new station that needs to be built once every 20 years or whatever.  But, in general, do you believe that capital programs should be stable over time to ensure rate stability?

MR. JOYCE:  Certainly that would be an interest of ours.

MR. AIKEN:  Does Kingston Hydro believe that if an overall increase is required in the level of capital additions, then that should be planned for on a staged basis in order to smooth the rate impacts?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes, that is certainly where we would like to get to.

MR. AIKEN:  A couple of quick questions on the table provided at Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 8, attachment 1.  I have included this table at page 16 of the compendium.  This is the forecast capital additions for 2012 and 2013.

The 1.5 million in capital additions shown for 2012 in account 1820, is that related to typical additions in this category from year to year?

MR. JOYCE:  This amount is reflective -- both 2012 and 2013 includes allocations to rebuild substation number 1.

So it may be a little bit higher, certainly the 2013, which in this table is indicating we start the construction of substation number 1, the rebuild.  That is certainly an abnormal amount, though that is actually not in our financing plans within the rate application.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And I guess my question was maybe a little bit more basic than that.  But the level of 1.5 million in distribution station equipment, is that something that you would have seen in past years?

MR. JOYCE:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the 1.5 million is almost like a one-time impact, and the same thing with the 9.45 million in the subsequent year?

MR. JOYCE:  I would say that this would -- as we start to address the deficiencies that we have at our substations, that this account will see higher levels associated with it in the future.

MR. AIKEN:  And just to clarify, you mentioned the 9.45 million.  Is all of that for the planned rebuild of substation number 1?

MR. JOYCE:  I don't have the details with me on that full breakdown, but I would certainly say that the majority of that is the rebuild, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  I am moving on now to Issue No. 4.

And the issue is:
"Is the proposed interest income earned on funds held in the City of Kingston's bank account appropriate as proposed by the Kingston Hydro in the application."


In appendix B to the February 4th letter, February 4th update -- let me see if I can find it here -- yes.  On the first full page in appendix B, Kingston Hydro indicated it was updating the interest income forecast from $17,050 to $75,321, and that this latter figure was based on an average amount of Kingston Hydro funds in the city's bank account of just under 5.6 million at a rate of 1.35 percent.

It indicates that the 1.35 percent was based on a prime rate of 3 percent less 165 basis points.

I just want to stop there.  I want to confirm the city receives a rate in its account of prime less 165; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So you get the same interest as what the city gets from -- is it TD Bank, I believe?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  There are no administration charges or fees withheld by the city for the bank balances?

MR. MURPHY:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  How has Kingston Hydro forecast the prime rate of 3 percent for calendar 2011?

MR. MURPHY:  We've used the prime rate that has been in existence for the past number of months, which is 3 percent.

MR. AIKEN:  So it is based on the actual current prime rate?

MR. MURPHY:  That is also forecasted for the first six months of 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, could you explain that last part of that answer?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The latest information we have available is that the 3 percent is forecast for the first two quarters of 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  And you don't have a forecast for the last two quarters of 2011?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, we do.

MR. AIKEN:  You have assumed it is 3 percent?

MR. MURPHY:  It is 1-1/2 and 2, but we used what -- we believe the rate that is currently in effect, that should be the best rate, because rates can go either way.  So we felt that 3 percent was the best number to use to estimate.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, I am missing here.  You said the forecast for the third and fourth quarters was 1-1/2 and 2 percent?

MR. MURPHY:  Sorry, 3-1/2 and 4 percent.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now I understand.

MR. MURPHY:  I forgot to add the two.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  If you turn to page 17 of the compendium, this is the response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 53.

In response to part (c), Kingston Hydro claims that:

"The amount planned to be in the bank account plus the amount of accounts receivable that is collected in a month, is needed to pay for the following month’s IESO invoice plus current expenditures coming due in a month."

How did you come to that conclusion?

MR. MURPHY:  To the conclusion that adding the balance plus the receivables collected is needed?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, that the amount in the bank account, plus the accounts receivable is what you need to pay the IESO and your other current expenditures on a month-to-month basis.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The IESO bill this past December was 6.2 million, which is due January 17th or thereabouts.

If you take one-twelfth of our operating expenses, that is another half-a-million dollars, so -- which gets you up close to 6.8 million, which is going to be required to be spent.

So we have 5.5 million in the bank, and we don't think we have any excess funds to invest, because of the payables that are coming due less than three weeks after year-end.

MR. AIKEN:  What is your average accounts receivable amount each month?  In your response -- just to back up, in your response, you seem to talk about three of the four items.  How much is your accounts receivable?

MR. MURPHY:  I would say between four -- 4 million or so, around 4 million in billed receivables at the end of a month.

MR. AIKEN:  So then -- okay.  I will come back to that in argument.

So specifically, have you done a monthly cash flow analysis?

MR. MURPHY:  No, we haven't.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Do you have access to a short-term debt facility, such as a line of credit, either directly or indirectly through the city?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, we have our own line of credit.

MR. AIKEN:  What are the terms and costs associated with that line of credit?

MR. MURPHY:  It is available at the prime rate of 3 percent.  Plus we can get some BAs.

MR. AIKEN:  And what is the limit on the line of credit?

MR. MURPHY:  It is 5 million.

MR. AIKEN:  If I could have you turn to Exhibit 5 -- and I apologize.  I don't think I have this in the compendium.  Sorry, Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1.  No, sorry, I do; it is page 18 of the compendium.

I am more efficient than I thought I was.

This is the calculation of the weighted average cost of debt.  I see there that between 2006 and 2009 -- maybe I should back up a minute.  I may not have been as efficient as I thought I was.  It is not page 18.

So you will have to look it up.  It is Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 5, not 2.

MR. MURPHY:  I have it.

MR. AIKEN:  And it is specifically tables 1 through 6 in that attachment.

And based on those tables, I see that between 2006 and 2009 –- sorry, Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 5.

MS. CONBOY:  We are almost there.

MR. AIKEN:  It's going to take longer to get there than we are going to stay there.

And specifically in attachment 5, I am looking at tables 1 through 6.

And the point I wanted to make here is that between 2006 and 2009, Kingston Hydro had short-term debt outstanding in the amounts of about 1.3 to 3 million in each of those years; have I got that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  That was money that was borrowed on our short-term facility.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.  Then in 2010 bridge year, that increased to about 4.8 million.  So you are pushing the upper bounds of your facility; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Then if you look at table 6, I see that there is no short-term debt shown for the test year.  And my question is:  Why?

MR. MURPHY:  We have used the short-term facility to finance capital expenditures.  And then once the expenditures are complete, we then utilize the long-term facilities.

So for 2006 through 2009, the short-term debt that was outstanding, using the short-term facility of $3 million, if you look at table number 4, the historical year, 2009, you can see on May 20th, 2009 that was transferred to long-term debt.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Murphy -- excuse me, Mr. Aiken.

Just so I am clear, you just mentioned, Mr. Murphy, that the 3 million instrument -- did you misspeak or did I misunderstand that your short-term limit was a $5 million limit?

MR. MURPHY:  The limit was 5 million, and we had borrowed three.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the deemed short-term debt component of your rate base is approximately $1.7 million?  And I am taking that figure from your updated revenue requirement in the February 4th letter, appendix C, the revenue requirement work form.  I believe that is the number.

Either on an applied basis or based on the settlement agreement and your update, it is roughly 1.7 million, is the deemed short-term debt component?

MR. MURPHY:  Did you want me to verify that or... which page of the updated revenue requirement work form are you referring to?

MR. AIKEN:  The capitalization/cost of capital spreadsheet.  It is the second box out of the three, which I assume reflects the update in the settlement agreement.

Sorry.  At the bottom -- it is page number 6, at the bottom.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  This does reflect the settlement agreement and the updated evidence.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And that is the middle box that we are referring to?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And in the same place, the deemed long-term debt is approximately 23.75 million; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, in the original evidence, back at page 18 of the compendium, the average balance on the long-term debt outstanding was 25.2 million.  And this is your actual debt now, not your deemed debt.

And it was at an average rate of 5.65 percent.  As part of the settlement agreement, this rate has been lowered to 5.60 percent; is that correct?  And that is reflected in the capitalization/cost of capital spreadsheet?

MR. MURPHY:  Is this the total debt, or just the long-term that you are referring to for the 5.60?

MR. AIKEN:  Just the long-term.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, other than the change in the rate, has there been any change in the amount of the outstanding long-term debt from the 25.2 million shown in the original evidence?  And again, this is back on page 18 of the compendium.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, there is a change.

MR. AIKEN:  And what is that change?

MR. MURPHY:  The TD Bank smart meters one hasn't been fully utilized at this point, and we have not taken out, as of December 31st, the full amount of the $25 million, as it is an average balance for 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, you have not taken out the full balance on the TD Bank smart meters loan?

MR. MURPHY:  That's right.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So based on these two sets of numbers, the $25.2 million shown in your original evidence and the 23.75 deemed long-term debt, there is about a one-and-a-half-million-dollar difference between those two.  Your actual debt is higher than your deemed debt, long-term debt.

Let me stop there.  Have I got that right?  Now I am confused.  Yes, your deemed debt is about one-and-a-half-million less than your actual outstanding long-term debt?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That is the end of my questions on that particular issue, so I am moving on to Issue No. 5.  That issue is:
"Are the 2011 Operating, Maintenance and Administrative (OM&A) expenses as proposed by Kingston Hydro in the application appropriate?"


Could you turn to page 19 of the compendium?  I have taken this information from your evidence, along with the update from the February 4th letter.  I should note, for clarity, that these costs do not include property taxes, so it is the true OM&A cost.

Subject to check, do you agree that the information provided there is correct?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you agree that an average increase of 8-1/2 percent, which you will see in the last column -- 8-1/2 percent per year from 2006 through 2010 is high when compared to the Ontario inflation rate, which has averaged 1.7 percent over this period?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Does it cause you, Kingston Hydro, any concerns that the average increase is roughly five times the rate of inflation over this period?

MR. JOYCE:  The expenses of operating and maintenance and administration are what we believe are necessary to sustain the infrastructure.

I really can't comment on the amount of that increase related to inflation.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree that it would be a concern to your ratepayers?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Could I have you turn to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 20?  This is on page 20 of the compendium.

In your original filing, you were forecasting an increase in OM&A expenses of 14 percent, or more than $737,000.  The Interrogatory response shows that, based on nine months of actual data, that the total OM&A expenses in the 2010 bridge year have risen only $182,000, or about 4.6 percent, from the 2009 levels.

Would you undertake to update to provide the full year actual OM&A expenses in the same level of detail as shown on this table for 2010?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes, we can.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  to PROVIDE FULL YEAR ACTUAL OM&A EXPENSES FOR 2010 IN SAME DETAIL AS SHOWN IN THE TABLE CONTAINED IN RESPONSE TO ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY NO. 20.

MR. AIKEN:  My next question I think Mr. Taylor answered this morning.  You have removed the roughly $26,000 in the revenue requirement associated with the late payment litigation costs, is that correct, or you will be removing that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  With respect to the LEAP expense included in the revenue requirement -- and you don't have to turn this up, but I believe this is about $15,600, and that is noted at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 7.

Now, in light of the collection and remittance of the late payment litigation amounts, does Kingston Hydro still believe it should collect the LEAP amount in the 2011 test year?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, we do.

MR. AIKEN:  Has Kingston Hydro had any communications from the Board or any discussions with the Board, or through the EDA, regarding the potential overlap of the late payment litigation amounts and the LEAP funding?

MR. MURPHY:  No, we have not.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn back to page 19 of the compendium, I am looking here at the OM&A costs per FTE.  So it is the smaller table in the middle of the page.  This has been derived from the sources indicated below the table.

Would you confirm, again, subject to check, that the information is accurate?

MR. MURPHY:  I would have to look at it before I could confirm it.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And if you do find an error, will you provide a correction --


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- or corrections as required?

With respect to the FTE data that is taken from table 1 of Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1, are the FTE figures there based on the number of positions or on the number of filled positions for those years?

MR. MURPHY:  So you are referring to Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1; is that correct?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And page 2 of 3?

MR. AIKEN:  It is table 1.

MR. MURPHY:  Table 1.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Your question was:  Can we confirm that for the number of employees, that it was based on actual or projected?  Is that...

MR. AIKEN:  Well, no.  For example, for 2009, the number of FTEs shown is 43.79.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Is that 43.79 positions or 43.79 filled positions; in other words, bodies or bodies plus vacancies?

MR. MURPHY:  That's positions.

MR. AIKEN:  Would it be possible to update -- not to update, but to provide those historical numbers based on the number of bodies rather than positions?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  That would include the test year, as well?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE HISTORICAL AND TEST YEAR NUMBERS OF ACTUAL COUNT OF FTES, AND UPDATE TABLE 1 IN EXHIBIT 4, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 1 TO REFLECT ACTUAL FTE COUNT AND COSTS.

MR. AIKEN:  And then maybe I can add on to that undertaking as a second part:  Can you update that table to reflect the actual FTEs and costs for 2010, both on the basis on which it was originally done and the basis of the response to part (a) of this undertaking?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, just moving back to the OM&A cost per FTE table that I provided, you will note that I have added a number of calculations at the bottom of that page that show the average annual variance.

First of all, you will note that the customers per FTE decline by about 3.3 percent per year, based on data from 2006 through 2009.

And by including the 2010 data, this rate of decline -- rate of decline increases to 4.7 percent.

Then further, when you take 2011 into account, the decline in customers per FTE moves to an average of 8.1 percent over that 2006 through 2011 period, and the reduction is more than 20 percent in 2011 alone.

To what does Kingston Hydro attribute this sudden and substantial decline in 2011?

MR. JOYCE:  It is primarily due to the increase in the FTEs in 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Mathematically, that makes sense, but why -- why do you need the big increase in the FTEs?

MR. JOYCE:  As I think Mr. Keech indicated in his opening statement, that we are looking to bring our system to a level that is safer for our customers, more reliable and safer for our employees.  The state of our infrastructure is serious enough -- and I think in Exhibit 2 of our application we have enough photographs there to indicate that we have some serious issues to deal with in our infrastructure.

We need these people to get that system back to where it needs to be.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I believe there are other intervenors who will be following up on the FTEs later on.

I am moving on to Issue No. 6.  This issue is:

"Is the PILs Schedule 1 adjustment for future benefit liabilities as proposed by Kingston Hydro in the application appropriate?"

So if you could turn to page 21 of the compendium, this is the response to Board Staff second round Interrogatory No. 9.

The response to part (c) indicates that Kingston Hydro is responsible for the future benefit liabilities based on the number of employees who service Kingston Hydro in accordance with the Utilities Kingston/Kingston Hydro agreement included in the application at Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 3.

I have included this attachment, beginning at page 23 of the compendium.

I basically only had one question on this issue, and that is:  Could you please take me to the specific part of the agreement where it is indicated that Kingston Hydro is responsible for these charges?

MR. MURPHY:  There is no specific part of the agreement that says that Kingston Hydro is specifically responsible for the charges.

MR. AIKEN:  Good.  I thought I was going crazy.

So in your response, then, to the Board Staff Interrogatory, what are you relying on that these charges are the responsibility of Kingston Hydro, rather than Utilities Kingston?

MR. MURPHY:  When the companies were formed, it was decided that all of the employees would reside in ServiceCo, which was Utilities Kingston.  And the overarching principle of that company was that costs would be allocated appropriately, so the electric utility costs would be appropriately allocated to Kingston Hydro and the other utilities' costs would be appropriately allocated to the City of Kingston's municipally-owned utilities.

So it was -- it's been run as a pass-through organization.

MR. AIKEN:  And so the assumption is that costs include any tax-related impacts of those employees?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's true.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So has Kingston Hydro included any of the various tax credits, the Co-op Education Tax Credit or the Apprenticeship Training Tax Credit, and allocated those to Kingston Hydro?

MR. MURPHY:  We have not received any of those credits.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Moving on to the last issue, Issue 7:

"Is the interest rate of 7.25 percent for the long-term debt instrument held by the City of Kingston as proposed by Kingston Hydro in the application appropriate for the purpose of setting rates?"

Now, the affiliate debt from the City of Kingston is about $10.9 million; is that debt instrument callable?

MR. MURPHY:  It is not callable in 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  But it is callable in general?

And we will get to the specifics of why it is not callable in 2011 in a minute.

MR. MURPHY:  According to the debt instrument, there are no fixed terms of repayment.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then I take it, based on your evidence, the loan is not callable in the test year because of the resolution shown in attachment 4 of Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1, and this is on the last page of my compendium.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, this resolution was passed at the annual general meeting of the shareholder, and that shareholder is the City of Kingston; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So was this annual general meeting a meeting of the city council or the municipal council?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So it was a municipal council who passed the resolution not to call the debt before 2012?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, what are the rules for the municipal council to overturn or to reverse a resolution?

MR. KEECH:  So for -- I may not get this 100 percent correct, but it will be generally correct.  For the municipal council to overturn a resolution within the year, they need to have a two-thirds majority agree to vote on the resolution to even table it.

And this is the part I am not sure of.  It may still be a two-thirds majority at that point to overturn it, or it may be a simple majority.  But to get it back on the table, there is a two-thirds majority required.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That was my general understanding.

Thank you, witnesses, Panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, were you going to be next, next up?  And how long have you got, do you estimate?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not as long as Mr. Aiken, but in a good way.

It is hard to say.  I would say it could be as short as 15 minutes.  It could go -- or it could go to 1:00 o'clock, depending on how the answers go.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Do you feel comfortable going ahead, then, and we will see where we are at 1:00 o'clock?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  Madam Chair, could we have a five-minute break before Mr. Buonaguro starts?

MS. CONBOY:  Sure.

MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 12:15 p.m.

--- On resuming at 12:31 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Buonaguro, we will have cross-examination to one o'clock.  If you've got something -- if you haven't finished, then we will resume after the lunch break.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I have taken the opportunity over the break to physically replace Mr. Aiken in his spot and try to work the audio-visual system to put up the interrogatories I am going to be referring to.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel -- no.  Good afternoon, panel.  It is 12:30.  I am Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.  I am going to start with just following up on some of the areas that Mr. Aiken already touched on.

First of all, if you can turn to page 15 of 42 of his compendium?  I guess it is K1.1.  This is the part of his cross where he was talking about the 2011 forecast capital budget.

Just in listening to the answers and obviously from the evidence, my understanding is quite a simple one in terms of your capital budget process.

My understanding is that you obviously have a 2011 capital budget filled with certain capital projects, but that there is actually this other list of capital budgets -- or capital projects which you would undertake limited only by essentially funding, and that as funding becomes available, you would add projects to the list of projects you do need in a particular year.  Is that generally true?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we are looking at this page 15 of K1.1, and we look at the capital additions in each year, my understanding is that this is generally reflective of the amount of funding you had available in any particular year?

MR. JOYCE:  This is capital additions, as opposed to our capital expenditures.

If you were to look at our capital expenditures, they would reflect a slightly higher number than those.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But in terms of planning for each of these years, they would be reflective of the cash flow that was available to you in those years?  And I may be using the simpler version of the words "cash flow" as opposed to the technical.

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

So looking at the proposed capital budget for 2011, my understanding is that -- I am not asking for this, but if the Board for some reason were to provide for a capital budget of, say, $1 million more than what you requested, you would spend the money on something?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If the Board were to reduce the amount of your capital budget by $1 million, you would have to take something off of your list of projects to do?

MR. JOYCE:  If the -- subject to our own decisions on how we spend that money, but, generally, yes, that would be the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just wanted to confirm.  My understanding from the cross earlier today by Mr. Aiken, specifically with respect to the -- I guess it is called the substation 3 project?  It is the new project.

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that how we refer to it?  My understanding from what you said today is that that project was known in 2010, and that in response to a particular Board Staff IR - and I don't recall the number - you did agree that if you had more money, that is the project you would do?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the way -- you answered in that way because, at the time, you didn't know about the -- presumably you didn't know about the Hydro One refund or the --


MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I said the refund, but also the fact you didn't have to pay -- I think it's the $600,000 or so to Hydro One?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then once that became available, you said, Ah-hah, we can do it, because that money is suddenly available?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So until that money became available, though, that project was deferred?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I am going to just briefly touch on Mr. Aiken's LEAP question, the LEAP funding question.

My understanding is that is funding that is part of your application based on a Board direction; correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that direction hasn't changed?

MR. MURPHY:  Not that we are aware of.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably that is why it is still in the application?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And just touching on the questions Mr. Aiken had with respect to the 5 million or so dollars that is being held by the shareholder, in answering those questions you were asked about the line of credit of approximately $5 million.  Do you recall that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is the utility's line of credit?

MR. MURPHY:  It is Kingston Hydro's, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me what you use that line of credit for now?

MR. MURPHY:  Now we generally use it to finance our capital expenditures as they are being built.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, generally speaking, it sounds like you use the line of credit to fund your capital expenditures, and then, from your earlier answers, you use the moneys that are available through the money that is being held by the shareholder to fund your OM&A expenses, is that correct, in the IESO expenses?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  That is used to fund the OM&A that is coming due, and as well as the IESO bill, the money in the city's bank account.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if you were to increase your line of credit to cover all of your expenses -- or I would suggest to you one thing you could do is expand your line of credit to cover all of your expenses.  Is that something you could do?

MR. MURPHY:  I am not sure.  I would have to have discussions with our lender.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would say that if it were possible, would that mean that the $5 million or so that is being held by the shareholder would then come off of the city note, and then you would borrow the money off the new extended line of credit?

MR. MURPHY:  This note payable to the city?  Is that your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Or the funds in the city's bank account?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably the funds in the city's bank account are the utility's; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it is being held by the city so you can pay certain bills?

MR. MURPHY:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you were to give that money to the city against the existing note, you would need that -- you would need to replace that money somehow in order to pay the expenses we have been talking about, the IESO bills and the OM&A bills; correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  We wouldn't use the line of credit for that, though.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not the existing one.

MR. MURPHY:  Or a future one.  That is long-term financing versus short-term money in the bank to pay bills coming due.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And how is that a problem?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, the money that is owing to the shareholder, the 10.8 million, was capital money that was invested on incorporation.  So it relates to assets in service.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think you understand my question.  It is maybe a simpler question.  What is stopping you from using a line of credit-type facility to pay the IESO- and OM&A-related bills, rather than putting the money in somebody else's bank account?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, for one, I don't want to use a line of credit to pay a monthly bill.  It is charging us 3 percent prime rate.  I would rather have the money in the bank account earning us 1.35 percent to pay the bill.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can...

That is interesting, because at the same time that you are earning 1 -- sorry, 1.65 percent is the number?

MR. MURPHY:  It is 1.35.

MR. BUONAGURO:  1.35 percent.  You are actually paying the city 7.25 percent, based on the fact, on that same $5 million, that you can't prepay them.

MR. MURPHY:  No.  There are two separate issues.  The money that we owe the city relates to incorporation costs when the assets were transferred in.  It is long-term debt.

The money in the city's bank account that is ours is used to pay operating expenses for the following months, such as the IESO bill.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that is probably the genesis of why the debt exists and why the money in the bank account exists.

But it doesn't answer the question of you what of you could do in order to minimize your interest expenses.  You haven't told me anything yet that suggests that you are estopped somehow from taking the money in the bank account, using it against the city note -- because my understanding from one of the other earlier answers is that there is no restrictions on when payments are made and there is no term on it, obviously -- and then borrowing the money from somewhere else at a lower rate - and from what you tell us, the line of credit that you currently have is at a lower rate than 7.25 percent - and using that facility to pay off the same IESO and OM&A expenses.

I don't see anything in your answers to date that say that you can't do that, which, on the face of it, would seem to cut the interest on that $5 or $6 million by half.

Is there something specific that stops you from doing that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, financial principles that we follow.  Long-term debt is long term related to assets in service.

Money in our bank account is used to pay the following month's expenses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let's say you were to violate that principle.  What would happen to you?  I don't mean to be facetious, but I simply don't know.  What are the consequences of doing what I am suggesting, such that you have violated some apparent financial principle?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  I am not comfortable reducing the money in our bank account, and then borrowing to pay current expenses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will leave it at that.  Thank you.  I am going to move to the area that Mr. Aiken implicitly -- impliedly; I am not sure what the word is -- deferred to me, at least in part.  That has to do with the FTEs that are being added for 2011.

I'm sorry, I am actually going to start using the computer here.  Actually, no.  I lied.  First I have one quick question on another small matter.

I am going to pull up an IR -- sorry, an Interrogatory response.  This is Board Staff IR No. 1, in their second round of interrogatories, I believe.  You will see it up on the screen.

Here, you were asked about the updated evidence with respect to the property insurance.  So this is called Board Staff Update IR No. 2, for the purpose of the record.

This is where you were asked about the update with respect to property insurance, and the fact it has gone up by a significant amount relative to what was in the application.  And the explanation, when you were asked this specific question:
"Please provide the detailed rationale for this increase."

And the answer, to be put succinctly, is that when you got the actual insurance assessment, it was higher.  But I don't think that was the reason for the question.

My understanding of the question was what has happened such that your forecast was so off with respect to this particular item -- what happened in terms of the underlying analysis of your property insurance requirements such that you were off, and you have this $25,000 increase?

MR. MURPHY:  The main reason we were off in our estimate, if you look at the responses -- and I believe in our response, we provided copies of our insurance bills for 2010 and 2011.  If you look on the MEARIE policy, we had a premium reduction of approximately 21,500 in 2010, which we did not get in 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What was the source of the premium reduction?

MR. MURPHY:  I am not sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I take it, though, we are supposed to infer that there was some one-time 2010 related premium reduction?  And that that is not available in 2011?  That is what you seem to be suggesting.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The invoices substantiate that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you undertake to find out what the cause of that premium reduction was?

MR. MURPHY:  I am not sure if I can get that, because I don't know.  It is from a different party.  It is from MEARIE, and their calculation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably, when they gave you the reduction they would have told you why, or pre -- or possibly bring somebody at the utility asked for the reduction.

It doesn't just -- I am assuming it doesn't just occur without any explanation.

MR. MURPHY:  I am not aware of why.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, is that a reduction that didn't exist in 2009?

MR. MURPHY:  I am not sure what the 2009 numbers were.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it may have been -- it may have been a premium reduction that had subsisted over a number of years, and then is being removed for 2011?  Is that one possibility?

MR. MURPHY:  That is possible, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you want to take a general undertaking to take some time, just to take a look at that and try to resolve what caused that $25,000 increase specifically for 2011, on best efforts?

MR. MURPHY:  I can try.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  to MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO EXPLAIN PREMIUM REDUCTION OF APPROXIMATELY $21,500 IN 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So now I am going to turn to FTEs.  And just starting with the application, this is Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 2, page 1 of 2, and this has the table of the historical FTEs by group.  And this is where, looking at the staffing levels for the -- for Kingston Hydro, we get a jump from 2010 of 48.2 FTEs to 60.9 FTEs; do you see that?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding is that 60.9 forecast is still -- it hasn't been updated.  That is still the forecast; is that correct?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that the 48.2 -- and this is from Mr. Aiken's cross -- I think the 48.2 might include actual FTEs and also some vacant positions; is that correct?

MR. JOYCE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there is an undertaking to fill out that information; right?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I am going to focus on the 2011 figure.  So you have a forecast of increases from 2010 to 2011 of -- it is just a shade under 12.9 -- sorry, it is just a shade under 13 FTEs, and that is because of some of it isn't actual people, it is allocations of jobs -- of people who already exist that are going to be allocated to the hydro company; correct?

MR. JOYCE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I am going to turn -- this is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 25, from their original interrogatories, I believe.

And it is a discussion about the 13 or almost 13 positions that are being requested here for 2011.  I pull up this one in particular because it summarizes the types of positions that are being filled, and it actually details the partial -- at least a number of the partial positions, and it also gives reference as to where there is discussion about other ones, in case someone wants to look further.

But essentially, looking at this, it has the 13 or so positions, and it summarizes it.  There is the additional CDM advisor position, seven additional staff consisting of five journeyperson power line technicians and two journeyperson substation electricians.

I am presuming those are full people that you are looking to hire?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And two additional engineering technologists; again, full people?

MR. JOYCE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  New hires.  When I say "full people" I mean new hires.

MR. JOYCE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then an additional FTE for community relations, and I can't recall.  Is that a full hire, or is that an allocation of time?

MR. JOYCE:  It is a full hire.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I didn't mention the CDM advisor position.  That is an increased allocation; is that correct?  Or is that a full hire again?

MR. JOYCE:  That is a full hire.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Thank you for that.

So the rest of this interrogatory details the allocations, the increased allocations, or -- I guess we can go through them.

The SCADA network technician allocation, that is an existing person with an increased allocation; correct?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the systems analyst is similar?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, from the description, it seems that the administrative secretarial allocation increase, there is nobody hired yet for that; that is going to be a new hire?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then the regulatory analyst, that is an existing position, an existing person?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think I have lost my page advance button.  Administrative clerk allocation increase?

MR. JOYCE:  It's a new position.

MR. BUONAGURO:  New position.  Thank you.  Financial analyst allocation?

MR. JOYCE:  It's a new position.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And supervisor allocation increase?

MR. JOYCE:  It's a new position.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. JOYCE:  Oh, sorry.  That allocation –- it is an allocation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, and that one actually says this is not additional staffing, so...

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I have sort of a general question.  There are amounts in here for the specific allocations, and there are also amounts in other areas specific to, for example, the CDM advisor position, but I don't think there is an Interrogatory that actually tells us what the 2011 total amount for all of these FTEs is.

If there is, I didn't find it.  I apologize.

Can you tell me, as a lump sum, how much you are claiming in terms of compensation for these 13 new positions, or increased allocations of existing positions? 
[Witness panel confers]


MR. JOYCE:  I don't have that at my fingertips.  We have the total compensation difference, but we don't have -- if you are asking specifically for these positions, we don't have that number right now.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps I can get some of the information that it occurs to me you might know off the top of your head.


For example, presumably -- well, let's start with the journeyman position, power line technicians, because five of the 13 positions are these people who, as of 2010, you hadn't hired yet?


MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Have you hired them yet?


MR. JOYCE:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you know how much you are offering for those positions?  What is the salary for those positions, or the proposed salary?


MR. TAYLOR:  I would like to interrupt at this point.  I am a little uncomfortable providing salary information for specific positions.  My preference would be to give an undertaking to provide a total amount for the 13 positions instead of breaking it down on a per-position basis.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, if I may?


MS. CONBOY:  Please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you have already done it for some of the positions, because, for example, by increasing the systems analyst allocation by $20,000 for 0.24, I can actually calculate what the salary is for that person.  I think it is also true of the CDM person and whoever -- wherever there is one position and you have done it by an amount and a percentage allocation, I actually already know what the amount claimed is.


And where I am going with this line of questioning has to do with the certainty with respect to the hiring of any particular people, and to the extent that the Board may be -- or may be persuaded to disallow some of the specific positions, it is going to have to know how much that position is -- how much that position constitutes, in terms of a salary amount, in the revenue requirement.


So that is why I need it.  I don't need it because I want to know how much a particular person is making, but I should say that it sounds like most of these people haven't been hired, so we're not actually talking about actual people yet.  We're talking about positions that haven't been filled.


MR. TAYLOR:  It seems the applicant is fine giving that information, so disregard my comment, please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I talked long enough for them to agree.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Have you got that information now or you want to take the undertaking?


MR. JOYCE:  No, we have that information.


MS. CONBOY:  Pardon me?  Okay, thank you.


MR. JOYCE:  So the rate is $33.82 per hour plus benefits.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I actually didn't need it at that level.  Do you know what the annual --


MR. JOYCE:  So $70,000 plus benefits.


MR. BUONAGURO:  70,000 plus benefits, okay.


MR. JOYCE:  So probably between around 100, $110,000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So 100 to 110.  So that is for the five journey person power line technicians?


MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How about for the substation electricians?


MR. JOYCE:  It would be the same.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So we're talking 100 to 110 for each.  And then the engineering technologists?


MR. KEECH:  I think in round numbers, probably about the same, depending on the level of detail you want.  But from what I think you are trying to get at, you could say about the same.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then I can look in the evidence.  The CDM advisor is already in there, the increase, I think in an earlier Interrogatory.


Then obviously we have the just under one FTE for the community relations, and everybody else here -- I think everybody else has a number in here already?


MR. KEECH:  It may be.  Again, you know, we're talking at a high level.  The salaries for the rest of them would probably be less than the position you have just talked about.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But I think the increase to the hydro portion is already quantified for everybody else, I think, somewhere in the application.  Anyway, that's fine.  Thank you.  So we are looking about -- in total, it looks to be approaching $1.3 to $1.5 million in increase related to the FTEs.  Does that sound about right?


MR. JOYCE:  That would be about right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you want to take an undertaking to get me an actual number so I am not left with a guess like that?


MR. KEECH:  I think on that, it is one thing to talk at a high level of detail at 100,000 per employee, but I think with where you are going, we probably need to provide better factual information, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  We will get the undertaking for the actual number, the total, but also per position, just so we know where to make our submissions and what the impact of those submissions would be.


MR. KEECH:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J1.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO PROVIDE SALARY PER FTE POSITION AND TOTAL FIGURE.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now --


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Buonaguro, I know that you are deep in your cross, but I am also mindful of the intervenors wanting to be in the other room at 1 o'clock.


Is now a good time to take a break for an hour?


MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be great.  Thanks.


MS. CONBOY:  Great.  We will come back at 2 o'clock.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:58 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:04 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you everyone.  Please be seated.

Mr. Buonaguro, we left off with you, if you would like to continue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  Welcome back.  As I recall, the last thing we left off with was a couple of undertakings with respect to the FTEs, and I have left Interrogatory No. 25 from Board Staff on the screen, because that is where we left off.

I believe pending the outcome of the undertaking, the last undertaking, I think we ballparked for discussion purposes the total amount of this 13 or so FTEs on 2011 being around one and a half-million dollars, or something in that order.

Can we use that number, for discussion purposes?

MR. KEECH:  I personally think that is a bit high.  It gets... you know, if you are looking at sort of all costs in, probably is one or 1.2, from our recollection, would be closer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That's fine.  We will plug in the real number into the –- well, we are not going to literally plug it into the transcript.  I don't want to be the one that does that.  But thank you.  We will use 1.2 for the purposes of the discussion.

Are you able to tell me or give me an idea of how much of that $1.2 million would have been capitalized, versus not?  I am trying to get a sense of how much this 13 FTEs actually directly affects OM&A, versus being capitalized and being part of the cap budget.

And that might be another undertaking.

MR. JOYCE:  It is probably around 20, 25 percent.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, 25 percent of it gets capitalized?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.  Very rough.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if we are using the rough numbers, again, do you want to give an undertaking on the exact amount?  Is that something you can do?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  to PROVIDE CAPITALIZED AMOUNT OF MONEY FOR FTES.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we use the rough numbers for now, we have about $1.2 million in added FTEs and about 25 percent that gets capitalized, which means there is approximately or in excess of $800,000 or so that is actually going directly to OM&A?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if I am not mistaken, that roughly comes out to the increase in OM&A over 2010, the net increase relative to 2010.  I think the difference is around $800,000; us that correct?  Or am I mixing up my numbers?

MR. KEECH:  I think that is relatively close.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think it works out, though.  I think there are probably decreases in other areas and increases in other areas, but as it happens, hiring these 13 people or adding up to 13 FTEs is around what you are asking for in an increase in OM&A, which I find interesting.  This is more of a statement than a question.  I apologize for that.

Now, I want to turn to -- I will turn briefly to VECC Interrogatory No. 30, where you were asked about these, the FTEs, and we asked whether Kingston expects to maintain this level going forward, i.e., the 60.91 total 2011 FTEs, whether you are expected to maintain that going forward, e.g., after expected future retirements, and the answer was no.


And there is a specific reference to the employees that are hired for succession planning prior to retirements and -- i.e., when people replace, they have already been replaced by some of these hires, and therefore they won't be replaced again in the future; correct?

I am paraphrasing Interrogatory No. 30.

MR. KEECH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then you were asked by SEC, and I think it -- SEC follow-up or second round IR No. 28.  And I will pull that up for you.  Or not.  Just give me a moment.

There it is.  So this is second round Interrogatory No. 28 from the School Energy Coalition:

"Please provide an FTE chart showing by year into the future the FTE reductions expected as incumbents retire."

And you essentially said that is not possible, because you don't know when they're going to retire; correct?

MR. KEECH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, you have a situation where in 2011, where you are hiring a bunch of people to replace people you anticipate retiring.  Then some time in the next two, three, four, five years, those people will retire, but you don't know when.

So for some years you will have two people hired for the same job, and then the next year one person for the same job, essentially because they won't be replacing that second person because the first person was there to replace them in the first place?

MR. KEECH:  I think that is right, but to be quite honest, you have kind of confused me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, maybe this will help.  We will go to -- I have to find this.

Oh, this is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 15.  I think that the point of the Interrogatory was to try to get a handle on this retirement issue.

And I found it interesting and I will tell you why.

For example, when you are talking about electric overhead total number of staff equals 14, that table, and it says here:

"Number of staff attaining earliest possible retirement eligibility without a penalty within five years, three."

So presumably sometime between 2011 and -- I guess that is '16, you are anticipating that three people will retire?  If I read the whole interrogatory, that is the implication I get, in that category.

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, then it is the same for substation maintenance total number of staff, four.  I am going with the first row, which is number of staff attaining earliest possible retirement without a penalty within five years; you have two.

So we are up to five people within the next five years that you are trying to replace; is that correct?

MR. JOYCE:  For -- to deal with this retirement issue, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And then I am just going to go over the page, just to make sure I haven't missed anything.

Then you do have additional contingency forecasting, a particular person has actually announced retirement, and according to this has retired now?  This supervisor, electric and operational services?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that position's salary still in rates -- sorry, still in the rate application?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What level was that?

MR. KEECH:  It is a supervisor position, so when you saying "level" you are talking dollar figure?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Yes, sorry.

MR. KEECH:  It currently pays between 70- to 90,000, but the reason I kind of laughed at the start is we are not having any luck filling the position at that level.  So we have decided that we need to go back and look at the level we are paying these positions, but I mean, today, you know, probably 90,000 plus benefits.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to make sure I understand this particular situation correctly.

When you did the rate application, you anticipated approximately 13 FTEs being added.  Did that include a replacement for this particular person?  Or did you know at the time that they were being replaced, or that you anticipated replacing that particular person in the forecast year, and therefore -- I mean, I am trying to figure out what the situation is with this particular person.

MR. KEECH:  So there was no additional people for this position.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. KEECH:  So of the 13, one of the 13 was not for this position.  So it was not 12 positions plus this one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think the application treats this person as though they had not retired.  You were just going to replace them, I think is –- and you assumed sort of a continuity in this particular position?

MR. KEECH:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But to date, you haven't hired anybody?

MR. KEECH:  No, we have not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, going back to the tables for the retirements -- well, actually, I will stay on this page for a second.  When you talk about how you predict the retirement, you talk about -- I will quote here from the first bullet point:

"On average, Utilities Kingston employees retire 3.4 months after their earliest possible retirement eligibility."

You are basically talking about why it is that you want to replace these people, based on this first column on the first page, number of staff attaining earliest possible retirement possibility.  You're saying that, generally, that's when they retire, when they hit that stage in their eligibility; is that right?

MR. KEECH:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you have three plus two, five people in that position within the next five years.  My understanding of this, though, is that you can actually pinpoint that to the year.

It wouldn't be within the first five years; you could actually say this year, next year, the year after; you could spread this five over the next five years?

MR. JOYCE:  We -- it might be difficult.  We have actually one person that is eligible to retire last year that is included in this and has not retired yet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that is one of the five?

MR. JOYCE:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how many are eligible to retire next year -- or, sorry, in the test year?

MR. JOYCE:  I don't have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can see where I am going.  I am trying to --


MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- get this to a finer detail, which is:  When within the next five years do these five people fall?  Can you do that by way of undertaking?

MR. JOYCE:  If the Board feels this would be valuable, we could do that.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps, Mr. Buonaguro, you could clarify the question for the record.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Interrogatory No. 15 indicates a total number of five staff in the electric overhead and substation maintenance areas, becoming eligible for possible retirement within five years.

I would like to get more detail, i.e., identify which years and how many people within those years these retirements are anticipated to happen -- or, sorry, when the eligibility is anticipated to happen.

MR. JOYCE:  I think what is important here is the fact that the hires that we would be looking to bring on to replace these pending retirees is -- are being brought on in advance of the retirement to deal with the overlap in the knowledge transfer, which is quite substantial with our system.

So I am just not sure the value of providing that information.  Whether they retire this year or they retire three years from now, the reality is that we need to hire these people this year so we can have adequate, competent staff to be able to look after this system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I can suggest to you why it might be relevant.  For example, if all five of them were in the fifth year, because this table covers five years, then you would be premature in all of your hires, wouldn't you?

MR. JOYCE:  It is not.  They're all within four.  I am quite sure of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Buonaguro, what you are asking for is spread the five numbers, the employees, out on their eligibility of the year that they're going to retire?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is exactly it.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Are you able to provide that?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J1.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE FURTHER DETAIL ON FIVE STAFF IN THE ELECTRIC OVERHEAD AND SUBSTATION MAINTENANCE AREAS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I am done.  I am just checking my notes.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Procedural Matters:


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, earlier on in the -- right at the outset of the proceeding, actually, Mr. Taylor had mentioned the idea of getting an estimate of intervenor costs.  We are not sure what we're able to do with that at this point, but I am just wondering if you have any comments at this point that you would like to make on this request.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of -- I think I said this this morning, but in terms of -- let's assume the Board wants the information, even if it just for the purposes of making argument on whether it should be used or not.  I would suggest that the best time to do that would be as part of our argument-in-chief, or our argument.

My thinking is that 99 percent of our costs are certain at the time that we submit our argument, and at the same time we could submit our argument on why -- or why or why not the Board should use that information for any particular purpose and whether it would be, for example, appropriate for the company to update its forecast of intervenor costs as part of its rate application on the basis of that information.

I mean, we could do it now.  I actually have some rough numbers, because I was curious myself, but it would be incomplete, and if you are -- if at the end of the day the Board wants the most accurate updated intervenor costs, it would be at that point, because then you are only talking about an extra hour or two with respect to the draft rate order.

Then that also gives us a chance to make our argument as part of our argument.  I mean, obviously that is not the norm.  We don't normally do this at this point in the hearing.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that is why we would like to hear exactly the comments you are giving, Mr. Buonaguro, and if you could be specific as to how you think the mechanics of it would work.  We don't typically get new information like that and allow an applicant to update its application in argument.  And if it is at that point, then we have a new revenue requirement and I am just wondering, where do we go with that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, there is sort of a fundamental issue here, which I think Mr. Shepherd touched on, which is whether or not the company should be or is at risk with respect to its forecast of intervenor costs and why that should be the case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All of the other utilities that I know of that are being regulated by the Board are at risk with respect to the intervenor costs in terms of their forecasts.  So the question is:  Is there a particular exception that should be made here, and, if so, why?

I wasn't really prepared to argue that point.  I think in this particular case, I think their forecast is pretty good.  I can tell you that based on what I reviewed.

I don't think it would be a particular problem, evidence wise, just because the Board makes a determination on our cost awards based on our cost submissions, although there is an affidavit involved.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are we combining two processes, then?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it certainly muddies the water.  I don't see any particular problem with the cost process as it stands.

I can understand maybe wanting to get more accurate information for forecasting purposes, but...

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is as much -- in the Board's view at this point, it is as much a mechanical issue and due process as it is quantum issue.  When I say "process", I mean the two processes as it is envisioned.

So, Mr. Taylor, you made the -- you know, raised it this morning that you would be interested and your client would be interested with what the view of updating your application, but there is a conundrum here as far as how the Board would deal with these issues.  And that is why we are asking for submissions as we go through the intervenors.

I think probably the most efficient process would be, once we've heard from intervenors, you would reply on what you've heard from them in aggregate and we can go from there.  That is a signal to you, as well, Mr. Shepherd, that we would be asking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I do have some comments.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You can do it now or at the end of your --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy to do it now, since we are thinking about it, anyway.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I would make two comments.

First of all, the Board will be aware that this is not the only proposal to change the cost award process that Mr. Taylor has raised.  He has also proposed in another proceeding a type of interrogatories process for cost awards.

Our general view is that if the Board wants to change how it does cost awards, that is cool.  I mean, the Board should think about it at any given time, but it should do it in a measured way, rather than in an ad hoc way in individual proceedings.

There is nothing in this proceeding that suggests that having an estimate now or in final argument is different than in another proceeding.  Similarly, there is nothing in the Whitby proceeding that would suggest that interrogatories there make more sense than somewhere else.

And we would assume that if the Board reviewed the cost award process, it would be reviewing other things, like hourly rates and stuff like that.

So our general comment is we have a concern that this sort of thing not be done on an ad hoc basis, particularly since, as we have suggested in submissions in another context, it is likely to be contentious.  This is the sort of thing that is likely to be less than 100 percent consensual.

The second comment I would make is, if what is requested is a reliable number, then the time to get it is at the end of final argument when we can give a number that is reliable within a few hundred dollars.

And, indeed, there is a pragmatic side of me that says let's do that, because then once that is built into the rate order, my friend can't complain about our cost claim.  So this is a good thing.

But I am concerned that if we do that in this case, that we are opening up a can of worms in every other case and that if you are going to change it, you should change it thinking through all the components of the issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your second point, I think, Mr. Shepherd, is what I was alluding to when I suggested the combining of two processes, that one does impact the other.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So others do see that direct impact, then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  From a technical point of view, Mr. Quesnelle, I don't think there is any reason why additional information can't be included at the -- in argument or in the rate order, because it is not evidence, it is a fact.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a piece of information that normally would come out in the process.  So it is in the same way as the calculation of depreciation after the Board makes its decision, is something that is just a fact.  And you figure out whether in the draft rate order it is done correctly.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Then I suppose -- not too put too much emphasis on this, because I am hearing your argument on that -- it should be generic.  To the extent that that fact feeds into the Board's ultimate decision on revenue requirement, it need not necessarily interfere with the Board's rulings, then, on the awards themselves, in which case, then you are either going to have an over-collection or not, based on --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes.  I think that my friend, Mr. Taylor, can't have his cake and eat it too.  If he wants the numbers before the draft rate order so he can build them in, that's fine.  But then he can't complain about the cost claims when they're filed, because they've been recovered from ratepayers.

The Board still has its supervisory function.  That absolutely is true.  If we put in a cost claim that the Board thinks is ridiculous, the Board should be saying:  No, this is ridiculous.

But you will see that at the time you do your decision anyway, before the draft rate order, if you did that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.  Understood.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Taylor, you have certainly an opportunity to address this in your written submission, but would you like to comment on anything you have heard today?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  I would.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps, Madam Chair, Board Staff could make a few comments --


MS. CONBOY:  Oh, sure.

MS. HELT:  -- prior to Mr. Taylor responding, and then he can respond to the parties and Board Staff.

Just as a general principle, Board Staff would agree with what Mr. Shepherd has put forward with respect to the Board does have a practice direction with respect to cost awards, and the methodology to be employed when looking at costs.

I believe that the question Mr. Taylor put to you this morning - and he can correct me if I am wrong – is whether this Panel ought to direct the intervenors to advise the applicant whether or not the amount budgeted for each of the intervenors -- to be approximately $25,000 per intervenor in this case -- is appropriate or accurate, in order to -- for them to properly budget.

So the question for you is to determine whether or not it is appropriate for this Panel to make that direction.

It is certainly within your discretion to make that direction.  However, again, to reiterate, there is a practice direction, which allows for parties to determine with some degree of accuracy what those costs may be.  There is a tariff of rates and charges that is in place.  There is provision for the types of disbursements which are allowed to be recovered.  There is an opportunity for parties to file objections with respect to any cost awards claimed.

And I think the issue is one that Mr. Quesnelle identified, is that you really are looking at then having two processes combined into one, and it can create problems and difficulties with respect to the process.

So for those reasons, Board Staff would suggest that there is no reason in this case that I have heard for the Board to depart from its practice with respect to costs.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Mr. Taylor?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  I think a big deal is being made out of this, bigger than I was expecting.

We are not -- first of all, the reason why I requested that the information be gathered today was because I wanted to do it during the evidentiary portion of the proceeding.

Number two, we want to make sure we are in the right ballpark.  If we have budgeted $25,000 and the intervenors are sitting here knowing that they have spent 40,000, for example, then I think that is problematic and that they would have an obligation to advise us during the evidentiary portion of the proceeding that our forecast is off.

You know, this whole proceeding is about forecasts and the appropriateness of forecasts.  Now, if Mr. Buonaguro says that he has had a look at his numbers and he thinks that we are pretty close, then that's fine with me.  I don't think it needs to go any further than that.  I am not looking for an exact number.

And in no way would we forego our opportunity to object to a cost claim; that was certainly not the intention of my request today, because there is one thing of saying:  What's the forecasted number?  It is another thing to say:  Well, was the forecasted number reasonable?  And that is what would be the subject of an objection to a cost claim.

I don't think that what I am doing here is challenging the cost award guidelines generally.  I am just asking for the Board to ask the intervenors:  Are we in the ballpark on $25,000?  Or do we have something to worry about?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I would ask you to elaborate, Mr. Taylor.  Do you agree that there is a nexus between the two points, if we were to start to introduce the quantum as part of the ratemaking process, as to what is available to the Board, as well?

You objecting on behalf of your client is one thing, but the Board makes observations and cost awards as well.  So there is, I think -- I would suggest there is a nexus and ask you to comment on that.

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I am not sure I understand what you are asking.

I agree that there is definitely a connection between the forecast of a cost award and the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Putting it into rates.

MR. TAYLOR:  Putting it into rates, absolutely.  Yes, there would be a connection, but --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I am not suggesting it is insurmountable.  All I am suggesting at this point, we would have to go further than a simple kind of response that:  Okay.  Everybody give their numbers and we will put it in, and not put our mind to the second step of this.

And I am asking for your comment on that.

MR. TAYLOR:  I am not really sure.  I would have to think about that.  It is an interesting question.

But you know, I think that this would be subject to materiality.  If we were off by a few thousand bucks, then, well, one, I don't even know if that would affect the rates, but I think that would be something that would be acceptable to the applicant, to Kingston, if that were the case.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to maybe seek some clarification from my friend on what he anticipates would be one of the scenarios, based on the example given.

So for example, the company in this case forecasted $25,000 for each intervenor, so a total intervenor cost of $75,000.  Let's say for the purpose of argument that he is correct in his suggestion that the total intervenor cost is actually not 75,000 but turns out at the end of the day to be 160,000.

On the basis of that information provided to his clients prior to the rate order, they change their forecast to $160,000 so that $160,000 is being recovered in rates for intervenor costs, but then he says he in no way wants to give up the right to challenge the legitimacy of the $160,000 in total intervenor costs.  And let's say he is successful in cutting it in half, but he already has $160,000 embedded in rates, so he has adjusted his rates to eliminate the risk to the client based on their forecast, and then is -- then trying to do what?

I am trying to understand how that would play out.

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I would expect that the intervenors would provide us with a reasonable estimate of their costs, costs that would follow the guidelines.  I wouldn't ever expect the intervenors to fill out inflated costs --


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, but this is the procedural problem, is because you are changing your forecast based on what we give you, and then after it is in rates, challenging the legitimacy of that forecast.

MS. CONBOY:  Well, I think that was Mr. Shepherd's point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  So I think we have got enough discussion going that we can deal with the rest of it via written submission and reply.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may be excused, I am going to scoot over to the other room and see if I can be helpful there.

MS. CONBOY:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

It is working.  Hello, witnesses.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I have questions on only five of the issues.

I apologize, Madam Chair, I do not have a compendium.  I actually planned to have one, but I planned to do my cross tomorrow, so it would be ready for tomorrow.

MS. CONBOY:  That's okay.  You have it ready for us, up on the screen; right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I -- no.

MS. CONBOY:  Oh, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Buonaguro is leaving; without my techie, I don't know what to do.

MS. CONBOY:  All right.  Well, we will try and make do, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have questions on five issues.

I want to start with -- and it relates directly to the question of the PILs OPEB adjustment, but it also relates to a number of other things.  That is the sort of elephant in the room, which is -- and I will ask it to you this way.

You will agree, Mr. Keech, that Kingston Hydro is a virtual utility?

MR. KEECH:  Yes, I would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you tell the Board what you mean when you use that term?  I took that term out of your own evidence, and so can you tell the Board what you mean?

MR. KEECH:  I think in very simplistic terms, Kingston Hydro has no employees.  We have officers, as I stated during my opening statement, but we have no linemen, no supervisors, no engineering staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, the electricity distribution business is carried on by Utilities Kingston; right?  I think you say that somewhere in your evidence.

MR. KEECH:  Yes, I think that is a fair statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I just saw your CV today and I wonder if you can turn to your CV, because that will help me understand this connection.

MR. KEECH:  Unfortunately, I don't have it.

MR. TAYLOR:  I do.

MR. KEECH:  Oh...

[Mr. Taylor passes document to Mr. Keech]

MR. SHEPHERD:  Down in your employment history there, Mr. Keech, you say that you are president and CEO of Kingston Hydro and Utilities Kingston for the last ten years; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you say that what that is is you are responsible for the strategic direction and day-to-day operations of the electric, gas, water, sewer and fibre optics utilities of the City of Kingston; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  If you are reading from this, I'm agreeing with what you are reading, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I understand that in 2007 you actually had an -- your role was expanded, and now you are manager of Kingston Public Works, as well; right?

MR. KEECH:  That is not 100 percent true, but for all intents and purposes it is close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your role -- I mean, let's forget -- your pay cheque actually comes from Utilities Kingston; right?

MR. KEECH:  I believe so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your role, if I understand it correctly, is really as a senior executive at the City of Kingston?

MR. KEECH:  No, it's not.  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  It says here "participating on the city's senior management team".

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  If I could interject, my role is president and CEO of Utilities Kingston and Kingston Hydro.

The City of Kingston -- and, if you would like, we can get into reasons as to why, but that will take some time.  I have no problem going there.

But the City of Kingston has a contract with Utilities Kingston to provide management services to the public works group, being city engineering, roads, streets, snow plowing and solid waste, and Utilities Kingston, in turn, has me fulfilling that part of the contract.

So I am not an employee of the City of Kingston.  I do not report to the CAO.  I am not a commissioner.  I sit on their management team and take part in their management meetings, their strategic issues, but I am not an employee of the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are the one in charge of public works; right?

MR. KEECH:  Well, I guess it depends on how you call in charge.  I manage public works.  I would say the CAO of the city is in charge of public works.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It says here assumed responsibility in 2007:
"...assumed responsibility of the City of Kingston's core public works functions including municipal engineering, roads and park maintenance and solid waste."

So those areas report to you; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  I think we are splitting words, but, yes more or less.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I am trying to understand is, historically, all of these utility activities were in the city; right?  They were city activities?

MR. KEECH:  No.  If I could just provide some comments there?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. KEECH:  I apologize if I didn't understand your question correctly.

So the public works functions that I just mentioned, so roads --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you.  I wasn't talking about that.  I apologize for interrupting.  I was talking about the utility activities.

MR. KEECH:  That is where I was going to, actually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Go ahead.

MR. KEECH:  So should I continue or should I stop?  I am not sure where to go here.

MS. CONBOY:  Please continue.

MR. KEECH:  So the public works -- can I get you to ask the question?  I kind of lost my train of thought here in this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I probably asked it badly.

MR. KEECH:  You said whether these functions are all part of the City of Kingston.  So the public works were.

The utility -- core utility functions some were; some were not.  So in my history, at the start of this I talked a little bit about the amalgamation process for very different reasons.

When we went through the amalgamation process, the Public Utilities Commission of the City of Kingston was part of that, of which I worked and Ms. Taylor worked.

So it was responsible for the electric utility for the old city of Kingston, the water for the old city of Kingston, and transit and some other things I don't think we need to get into now.  The sewer utility was with the old city.  During the amalgamation process, there was a feeling that if all the utilities were brought together under one form of management, there would be efficiencies that would be found, which we believe took place.

So I am hoping I have answered the question.  If I haven't, I apologize, because I may not have quite understood what you were asking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess what I'm trying to understand is that at the time of the Electricity Act, the City of Kingston was required to incorporate a company to carry on its electricity distribution business; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the city did that, but -- and transferred in some assets - I am going to get to which assets in a second - but didn't actually transfer any employees, kept a separate organization so all of the utility people could stay together; right?  That is Utilities Kingston?

MR. KEECH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The intention was to be more efficient; right?

MR. KEECH:  Mm-hm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that wasn't actually the contemplation of the government at the time; right?  The provincial government, when it said incorporate a separate electricity distribution company, it wasn't saying just for pretend.  It was saying, really, like, operate this business separately; right?

MR. KEECH:  I might respectfully disagree with you on that.

And this may be more opinion than fact; I will make that comment.  But when we went through the incorporation process and working up to it, I know there was significant interest in what we were doing in Kingston, mainly because we owned the gas utility and the electric utility, and there were some proceedings that we had with the gas utility where we ended up, I guess the first time we were here at the Ontario Energy Board, in regard to franchises and whatnot.

But there was some interest in the provincial government at the time, in the Ministry of Energy, which may have been energy and environment at that time, to look at -- I am trying to think what the buzzword at the time was.  Yeah, a convergence of utilities.  So were there value in having electric utilities and gas utilities together?

I think some things happened in Cornwall that may have also demonstrated that.

So, you know, as it ended up, I think where generally the industry is at is looking at more pure electric utilities, but I am not sure that was necessarily the case back in 1998, 1999, 2000, and it was part of the thinking that took place when we set up as we did.

And, I mean, you are correct in what you are saying, where you are going.  We are very different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you have no employees in the utility?

MR. KEECH:  I think we have covered that off, yes.  Well, in Kingston Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is the only utility I am talking about, just to be clear.  Well, is Utilities Kingston a utility?

MR. KEECH:  Well, I guess I apologize, but I think I misunderstood you before when you were talking about different organizations, so I was just trying to be clear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this has been a source of confusion, hasn't it?  This Utilities Kingston versus Kingston Hydro has been a source of confusion, hasn't it?

MR. KEECH:  Not for us locally, no, not at all.  I think it is fairly clear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let me just -- I am surprised at that answer.  Just a second.  I wonder if you could --


MR. TAYLOR:  Could I interrupt for one second to ask Mr. Shepherd what issue this line of questioning pertains to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Our position on both OM&A and capital is that the company has not been transparent in its evidence.  It has provided evidence as if Kingston Hydro exists, and, in fact, none of these expenses we're talking about are actually in Kingston Hydro.

And we believe that the test for what is recoverable from the ratepayer in OM&A and 2011 capital expenditures are different if you are buying the services from an affiliate.

I am just looking for the reference here that -- because I was a little surprised at this.  It is in the annual report of the -- the 2009 annual report of Kingston Hydro.  I am just trying to find the reference.  It is Exhibit -- here we go.  Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 2, which is the 2009 annual report of Kingston Hydro; right?

If you go to page 11 of that document, Mr. Keech -- do you see that?


MR. KEECH:  I have page 11 in front of me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so on the right-hand column, you see, you say in your annual report:

"In order to remain compliant with the provisions of the ARC and reduce customer confusion regarding Kingston Hydro's role and relationship relative to Utilities Kingston and the City of Kingston..."


And you go on to talk about the steps you took to brand it better.


So there was confusion; right?

MR. KEECH:  So amongst our customers, the vast majority of our customers still call us the Kingston PUC, by far, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am sure in a lot of places in the province.


MR. KEECH:  I guess if you are looking at customer confusion -- and I guess where I thought you were going with your question was in regards to management of regulatory issues.


Yes, I had quite a significant argument with a very well-known customer Friday afternoon on my phone, and he kept complaining about what the Kingston PUC was doing.  And I kept referring to him:  Well, the Kingston PUC hasn't existed for 12 years.


So there is confusion, I think even on a bigger scale.


And one of the things that we are attempting to do is to make it clearer, from our customers' perspective, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, the confusion was so much that in your original filing where you are supposed to file the org chart for Kingston Utilities, you actually filed the org chart for Utilities Kingston; right?  Because Kingston Utility doesn't have an org chart, but you said it was the applicant's org chart; isn't that true?


MR. KEECH:  Sorry, do you mean for Kingston Hydro as a --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Kingston Hydro filed in its application an org chart, as it is required to do under the filing requirements.


And isn't it correct that even though it was labelled as the applicant's org chart, it was actually a Utilities Kingston org chart?  Even you were confused?


MR. TAYLOR:  If I could jump in again, I am not sure I understand what this has to do with costs.  If we could get to the cost portion of this line of questioning sooner than later, I would appreciate it.


MS. CONBOY:  Can you help out Mr. Taylor, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  What I am trying to do is establish the groundwork for the intermingling of costs between the City of Kingston, Utilities Kingston and the utility, such that they are no longer transparent.


This org chart is a perfect example of that, where even the -- even the applicant was confused.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Well, why don't we go to that org chart, if it was filed in prefiled evidence, and you could ask some questions relating --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no questions on it.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want confirmation that they filed the wrong document.


MR. KEECH:  Well, I guess, then, maybe we need to be directed to the org chart, because I am looking at 1.2.3.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. KEECH:  And to me it is fairly clear, "Corporate Organization, Kingston Hydro" and then the affiliates, the City of Kingston and Utilities Kingston, so I am not -- I am obviously missing something here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We actually asked an Interrogatory on this.  So the filing requirements require you to file the organizational chart for the applicant; right?

MR. KEECH:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you look at Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 3, attachment 1, page 1 of 1, it says:  "Utility Organization Chart."  Yes?


MR. KEECH:  Sorry, could you take me to that just a bit slower?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 3, attachment 2, page 1 of 1.


MR. KEECH:  Yes.  We have Utilities Kingston org chart.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I want -- go to the previous page, that is page 1 of 1; do you see that?  "Utility Organization Chart"?  That is what it says; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes, I see what you're saying.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Let me move away from that for a second and ask you a couple of other questions, just to understand the lay of the land.


At the time of the transfer of the business, the transfer transferred the employees and all of the operational staff to ServiceCo, to Utilities Kingston; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And transferred the assets to Kingston Hydro?


MR. KEECH:  Yes.  It had a different name at the time, but yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Called WiresCo.


Now, I am looking right now at Staff -- the Staff compendium.  It happens to be a good source of this information.  I don't think this has an exhibit number yet.


MS. HELT:  I don't believe the Panel has a copy of this yet, either.


MS. CONBOY:  We do.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  You do?  Okay.  We will mark that as K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the document I am looking at is, I think, C11, which is an Energy Probe IR response, No. 31.


If you look on the bottom of the pages, there is numbering and there is a number Energy Probe page 154.  That is the page I am looking at.


Do you see that?  This is the second page of the transfer bylaw.


MR. KEECH:  Oh, sorry.  I am in the wrong one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?


MR. KEECH:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


So I see here that in section 2 it says, so all the assets get transferred to WiresCo.  That is in 2 (a).  And all of the employees get transferred wherever WiresCo says, but ultimately that was to ServiceCo; right?  Is that correct?


MR. KEECH:  Yes.  That's correct.  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are no further transfers, but then if I look down at the consideration, it says in 3(a):  Here is how you are going to be paid for the assets of the city transferred to WiresCo.  I understand that.


And plus there is any -- there is assumption of liability in (b), and fully paid securities.  But then there is a section here, (c) -- this is what I didn't understand and why I am asking you:

"The consideration to be received by WiresCo for the transfer of assets to ServiceCo is the assumption by ServiceCo of any liabilities..."


Blah, blah, blah.


Can you help me with that?  Are there some assets of the utility in ServiceCo?


MR. KEECH:  No, not of the utility.  But we have a fibre optics business, and that is what this was referring to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KEECH:  So the only -- maybe if I could clarify -- the only assets in ServiceCo or Utilities Kingston now is the fibre optic assets.  And that has been --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these assets were transferred to WiresCo, and then transferred to ServiceCo?


MR. KEECH:  No.  They were transferred to ServiceCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, this says the assets transferred by WiresCo to ServiceCo.


MR. KEECH:  Well, yes.  Before incorporation, they were owned by the electric utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, right now the employees are -- you have some employees providing services for the electricity distribution business in Utilities Kingston, and you also have some in the City of Kingston; right?


MR. KEECH:  Sorry.  I didn't catch the last part.  I'm sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The employees that are carrying out the business of operating the distribution utility --


MR. KEECH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- some of them are in Utilities Kingston, and some of them are in the City of Kingston; true?


MR. KEECH:  I wouldn't phrase it that way.  I would say the employees carrying out the businesses for Kingston Hydro or WiresCo are in Utilities Kingston.  Utilities Kingston then contracts with the City of Kingston for some services, similar to what we would contract with construction companies for construction services.

So the City of Kingston has no Kingston Hydro employees, so to speak -- well, no employees that are just there to provide service for Kingston Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those 60.91 FTEs that you are proposing for this year, some of those FTEs are City of Kingston employees; correct?

MR. KEECH:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then let me -- maybe I misunderstood this.  I am looking at School Energy Coalition second round IRs No. 3.  Do you have that?

MR. KEECH:  Sorry.  I don't think you gave me the number, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  SEC second round IRs No. 3.

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  I have it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that these employees that are being charged by City of Kingston to Utilities Kingston and onwards to Kingston Hydro are included in the employees that you say are part of this 60.91?

MR. KEECH:  No.  No, none of the city employees are part of that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the real number of employees that are doing the operating -- that are operating the utility is higher?

MR. KEECH:  I wouldn't say so.  We contract services to the City of Kingston, but they're not employees of Utilities Kingston or Kingston Hydro.  So I would disagree.  It is an allocation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can...

I wonder if you can take a look at SEC Interrogatory first round No. 17?

MR. KEECH:  Okay, I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I may be wrong here, but this looks like it is saying you have various FTEs in the City of Kingston, some of which are allocated to Kingston Hydro and some of which are allocated to Utilities Kingston.  Am I wrong there?

MR. KEECH:  No.  No, not as far as an allocation goes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, I don't understand.

MR. KEECH:  You keep asking:  Are the city employees part of the 69 or whatever -- 60.9?  So my answer to that has been "no".

Are these employees allocated by the City of Kingston to us?  Yes, they are, but they're not in that number and we don't see them as our employees.

Just to be really clear, in my role with the city and public works, I have nothing to do with them there either, so they can't be tied in that way, just to be clear on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have agreements between WiresCo and ServiceCo about the provision of services?

MR. KEECH:  Sorry, I have trouble hearing you sometimes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I am mumbling in my beer.  You have agreements between WiresCo and ServiceCo with respect to the provision of services?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the agreement, the main agreement, requires a review of whether the prices are reasonable; right?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you do that review every year; right?

MR. KEECH:  We don't do a formal review every year, but we go through a formal budget process every year through a formal budget presentation, and that is presented to the board of Kingston Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Let me just nail that down, because you have to do a budget to Utilities Kingston of everything; right?

MR. KEECH:  Probably not in the way you are thinking, no.  Utilities Kingston prepares a number of budgets for a number of different entities.  So Utilities Kingston has its own budget, yes, but that is basically for the fibre optic utility.

We have just gone through a municipal budgeting process where we prepared, and I presented about a month ago, operating and actually a four-year capital plan and budget to the City of Kingston for water, sewer and gas utilities.

And, as I said, we do the same with Kingston Hydro.  The Kingston Hydro one that is in the evidence here was done quite some time ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This whole Utilities Kingston structure only exists, only needs to exist, because the electric utility has to be separate, right, because the rest of the activities -- except for fibre optics, which is small, the rest of the activities are still actually carried on by the city, aren't they?

MR. KEECH:  So you are correct in the fibre optic.  It can't be done by the city.

The other activities, which are the water, sewer and gas utilities, are owned by the city, but they are managed by Utilities Kingston.  We are responsible for the day-to-day management.

We go to city council for budget approval, as I had just mentioned, and any significant policy issues.  So as an example, lawn water restrictions are a contentious policy we take to council, but the day-to-day operations are managed by Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my point here was a somewhat different one, and that is that but for the Electricity Act, it would be a lot easier to just leave all of this stuff in the city; right?

MR. KEECH:  I might have a different opinion on that, but it is true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KEECH:  It is -- from a legal perspective, it is true.  I believe there are significant benefits in managing it the way it is, which is where my difference of opinion is.  But if your question is:  From a legal perspective, can they be put back into the city to run there?  Yes, they can, no question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there are economies of scope and scale, right, because you have these operations together?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And everybody benefits.  The electricity utility benefits.  The gas utility benefits.  Everybody benefits?

MR. KEECH:  I believe so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So really any municipality should be interested in doing something like this to get economies of scope and scale; right?  It is a trick question.

MR. KEECH:  You're asking my opinion?  Going back to your comment about mumbling in your beer, that would be a good discussion for us to have at some point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to move on to some actual numbers now, as fascinating, I am sure, as the structural discussion is.

I wonder if you can turn to School Energy Coalition first round No. 18.  Do you have that?

MR. KEECH:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am looking at the second page of that interrogatory response.  It is discussing a $2.4 million credit that the city has, in effect, given to the utility because, if I understand this correctly, the city was effectively overcharging for fleet services, not in a bad way; just it figured out that it had charged too much, and so it gave the utility a credit for $2.4 million as of January 1st, 2010.  Is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  No, that is not entirely correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, help me, then.

MR. MURPHY:  We have -- Utilities Kingston paid the City of Kingston to run and manage its fleet.  And included in the charge from Utilities Kingston to the City of Kingston was an operating component, as well as a capital replacement component.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. MURPHY:  So the capital replacement component was put into a reserve fund for future -- for future replacements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't the utility just buy its own vehicles?

MR. MURPHY:  There is -- again, I believe there was efficiencies deemed to be, at the time that the structure was put in place, that one fleet for the three companies was best.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is not true anymore?

MR. MURPHY:  Is this -- pertaining to which issue?  I'm sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  OM&A.

MR. MURPHY:  OM&A?  Okay.  And what was your question again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That it is not true anymore that it is more efficient to have the assets owned by the city?

MR. MURPHY:  We believe that it is better for the -- Kingston Hydro to take control of its own fleet in the future, and that would be in 2012 to 2014 time period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's -- the reason I asked the question is because you say in this interrogatory response that you've got this credit because of this reserve fund, and the city is going to buy new vehicles and rent them out to you; right?

MR. MURPHY:  The city will use the capital component to replace vehicles until that is used up.  But there is no operating expense component in the 2.4 million referred to in the interrogatory response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  But the city is going to buy vehicles with this $2.4 million; right?

MR. MURPHY:  That wouldn't be an operating expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but 2011 capital expenses are also on the agenda?

MR. MURPHY:  Right, and there is no fleet in 2011 capital expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you just got this credit sitting there, which the utility has paid for; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't you just get the city to give it back to you?

MR. MURPHY:  We decided that they would replenish our vehicles in the future when they came due, and we would use it up that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're paying you interest on this money?

MR. MURPHY:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you owe them $10.8 million, but they've got 2.4 million of your money that they are paying no interest on, and you are paying them 7.25 percent interest on the 10.8; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't it have been better to say:  Look, take the $2.4 million and pay off part of our note?

MR. MURPHY:  We wouldn't pay off part of the note.  If we had an extra 2.4 million, we would reinvest that in capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would spend more?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And why aren't you spending -- it is available to you; why aren't you spending more?

MR. MURPHY:  The thought was to leave it in -- leave it there so that the city could replenish our vehicles over the next two or three years, when needed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your general capital decision is that you think that the utility should take control of its own vehicle fleet; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why is the city buying your vehicles?

MR. KEECH:  I think, if I could interject here, when we say the city is buying our vehicles, they're going through the process of speccing the vehicles and buying the vehicles.

And now you go back to the questions that you posed to me about why we did the setup and amalgamation.  There were services that we chose not to have in-house with Utilities Kingston, and to leave with the city.

You know, the size of the fleet that the City of Kingston manages is significant, and it was viewed that they could do it much more efficiently than what we can.  And they have expertise on staff to spec vehicles, purchase them, inspect them when they come in, and we view it as a very good service for the money we get.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, now I am confused, because I am sure your colleague just said going forward, you want to buy your own vehicles.

MR. KEECH:  I think it is -- so I am talking -- again, maybe I am misunderstanding you.  I seem to be doing that a bit.

Who is actually doing the physical purchases?  That is what I thought you were saying:  Is the city buying our vehicles?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I am saying:  Whose vehicles are they?

MR. KEECH:  So you're talking ownership, as opposed to doing the physical buying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You have this people of $2.4 million; right?  Available to buy things?

And instead of taking it, and saying:  Okay.  Now we can spend it on whatever we think is appropriate, you're saying:  City, you hang on to it.  Don't pay us any interest, and let us know when you have some more vehicles for us.

MR. KEECH:  So we're saying that we had set that money aside over the past years as part of our fleet charges to be used for capital reinvestment in vehicles.

We know that we are going to need to replenish our fleet, and our decision was to leave the money there and use it to replenish the fleet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the things we were trying to understand is when you pay Utilities Kingston for services, those payments are actually paid to City of Kingston; right?  Not Utilities Kingston?

I was a little confused.  That is why I am asking about it.

MR. MURPHY:  No, not -- Kingston Hydro expenses are paid to Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then help me with -- I am looking at SEC first round Interrogatory No. 6, on the second page, where it says the -- if I understand this correctly, it says that the intercompany receivables between Kingston Hydro and Utilities Kingston are actually done through the City of Kingston; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The intercompany entries are done through the City of Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't actually owe Utilities Kingston any money, and they don't ever owe you any money?

You actually both owe the city various amounts of money that flow through the city; right?

MR. MURPHY:  All of the expenditures are paid out of the City of Kingston's bank account, and there is a reconciliation that is done at month-end.

And the expenses for Kingston Hydro are recorded in Kingston Hydro's accounts.  Same with the Utilities Kingston, and the same with the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the city does all of this stuff?

MR. MURPHY:  The City of Kingston accounting group does that as part of their month-end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have your own accounting department?

MR. MURPHY:  We have some accounting staff at Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the city does the accounting, and you pay them for that?  Is that one of the things --


MR. MURPHY:  It is a mechanistic process that is done by one of the city's staff at the end of the month.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MURPHY:  In conjunction with bank recs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to an area that hopefully will be less about the relationships between the entities, although you never know.

And that is the 2011 capital spending.  And I want to ask a couple of detailed questions before I get to the more general question.

The first detailed question is SEC second round Interrogatory No. 30; do you have that?

MR. MURPHY:  First round or second?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Second.  Second round Interrogatory No. 30.  It was a follow-up to VECC No. 39.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  Yes, we have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I am trying to understand is this is actually about the change from PST to HST, and the difference really being that PST, you actually paid it.  So if you had a capital expenditure, you actually had to pay it out of pocket and never got it back; and HST, which is the same amount, incrementally, but you get it back.

Do I understand this correctly, that what you are saying is that your capital budget in -- for the test year is effectively higher by the amount of the PST, in the sense that you budgeted on the same basis, but you have more -- you can get more out of it now, because you don't have to pay the PST?  Is that what that says?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The capital budget is not higher because of the PST.

What we have done over the past -- for the years 2010 through 2014 is we tried to figure out how much we could afford to spend in that period of time.

So if we do have -- if PST has now turned into HST and we get a refund for certain expenditures, we still spend the same amount of money, given the infrastructure backlog that we have talked about earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it says here Kingston Hydro is reinvesting the full HST refund.

That is effectively an increase in your capital spending, in the sense that you get more for the same dollars; right?

MR. MURPHY:  It means for the same dollars, we can do more capital replacement work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So some projects that wouldn't have made the cut before will now be able to make the cut, to the tune of about $334,000?

MR. MURPHY:  No.  No.  That number was based on the full 4.5 million being subject to HST, and that is not the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the number, then?

MR. MURPHY:  It is around 180,000 for 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Now, you have talked about your top-down budgeting, and I want to take you to School Energy Coalition first round Interrogatory No. 1 -- no, sorry, number 12.  I lied.  Do you have that?

MR. TAYLOR:  Which interrogatory?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is School Energy Coalition first round Interrogatory No. 12.

MR. KEECH:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand what this is saying, it is that because of the top-down approach to capital budgeting, each year there are some projects that can't get done because you can't fit them within the budget; right?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what this does is it says:  When did you end up doing those projects?  Right?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if I look at this, it looks like, for example, you had some projects in 2005 that didn't make the cut, and some of them were done in 2007, 2009, 2010; right?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these were not urgent projects; true?

MR. JOYCE:  No.  They are urgent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are urgent.

MR. JOYCE:  Well, define "urgent".

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have a three-year delay.

MR. JOYCE:  We have a backlog of projects.  So the fact a project gets delayed doesn't make it not urgent.  It simply means that there were other projects that came up that were deemed to be of a higher priority.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Delaying these projects -- deferring these projects, the correct term -- deferring these projects didn't put your customers at risk, didn't put your employees at risk; right?

MR. JOYCE:  I would not necessarily say that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you delayed projects that you should have spent money on and put people at risk?

MR. JOYCE:  Well, "risk", what risk?  I mean, risk management is what we do.

So we would put things -- so some of the vaults, for instance, that we had structural integrity issues with and we have in our evidence, we put in temporary shoring on the advice of engineering, so that we were trying to mitigate the high risk aspects of that in order to accomplish some of the other projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because risk is not black and white; right?

MR. JOYCE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  What I am trying to drive at here is that you have to make these sort of priority decisions all the time, right, can we afford to do this?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are not going to defer a project if it has to get done or somebody's life is going to be in jeopardy; right?  You are just not.

MR. KEECH:  Boy, that is a difficult question to ask, and I guess, you know, how do you define what projects put somebody's life in jeopardy?

So if you can sit here, black and white, and say if we don't do a project, somebody's life, one of our customers or one of our employees, is going to be in jeopardy, we will either do it or take it out of service or rope it off so it is not safe.

So if you are trying to get to a point here that we are doing things in Kingston that is putting our customers' lives and employees at risk, no, no.  That being said we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am assuming you don't.  I am assuming you don't.  That is the whole point of the question.

MR. KEECH:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the point is, then, you can always defer some projects if you have to.

MR. KEECH:  Again, I think that is difficult, and, I mean, this is not black and white, and -- yeah, I guess can projects be deferred?  They can, but I hope I was relatively clear in my opening statements that we have done this for the last 25 years.

And at some point in time, I think we need to stop deferring projects and either get on with this or we need to get out of the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, legitimate point.  I guess you said in your opening statement you referred to your approach to running the distribution utility as a run-to-failure approach.  I wrote these down.

MR. KEECH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said there were years and years of neglect of infrastructure renewal, and you said that now you have to restore what is broken.

And you said -- I will deal with those for a second.  That sounds to me like, over the course of the last decade or more, the City of Kingston, through its utility, has been harvesting the assets.  Isn't that true?

MR. KEECH:  I think my comments -- I don't think it is fair to say those comments were made necessarily over the last decade or so.

And there was a balance in the opening remarks as to what sort of detail you can go in with the length of time.  I think over the last decade or so, the City of Kingston -- not just Utilities Kingston, Kingston Hydro, but I think the City of Kingston has become aware that you need to reinvest in your infrastructure or you are going to be in a mess.  And I think the city has done that.

I think Kingston Hydro has done that, and we know we need to do lots more.

But, you know, you go back -- I can speak to this.  I have been there since 1980.  So I thought by your eyes you were going to make a comment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am, but I will wait until you finish.

MR. KEECH:  And it was very true the comments I said.  The priorities were keep rates low, connect the customers, and then work with what money you have left over, reinvest in your infrastructure.

And you go back to the first part of our application that takes us through some of the history, I think that is evident, and that is what we are hoping that we can start to correct here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to comment that you have in fact been running this for, what, 12, 15 years?  You have been in charge of this operation?

MR. KEECH:  More or less, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all of this period of time when you haven't been maintaining, you haven't been reinvesting, et cetera, that was on your watch.

Weren't you saying to the city, like, We've got to spend the money?

MR. KEECH:  So I would say my watch started with
the -- well, it did start with the amalgamation process.

Again, depending on what sort of level of detail you want to go into here, I could go at this for hours, but, you know, you go back in the '80s, and, yeah, comments were made that we need to be spending money.  We need to be doing more.  We need to be buying better equipment.

I think since the late '90s and incorporation we have realized that we need to reinvest, and we are trying to be more proactive, but we are handcuffed financially to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  By the shareholder?

MR. KEECH:  No.  No, the shareholder doesn't set our rates now.  Our rates were historically low, and then that was compounded by what we went through in 1999.

I hope if anything was clear in my opening, I was clear with that.  So since that time, in our view, we have had very limited financial resources to draw upon, and we have been trying to do the best, from capital improvements and operating and maintenance, that we can with limited financial resources.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, my understanding of your opening remarks was that you were -- at the time of incorporation, you had to keep your spending down to make sure that your profit levels were up, isn't that right, because you were thinking about selling the utility?  Isn't that true?

MR. KEECH:  No.  I'd say you are about as far from reality as what you could get, and I must have really missed the mark in my opening remarks here.

The comment I was trying to make in my opening remarks, in regards to the sale of the utility, was that the municipality did look seriously at selling the utility and a number of other assets.

And there was a concern about the impacts it would have on employees, on people.  That seemed to be the biggest concern at the time, as we went through this, and we had just gone through the amalgamation process where there was huge pressures to keep employee numbers low.

So there were packages offered.  People were told to go find other jobs.  I was told to go find another job.  There just wasn't going to be a need for engineers going forward.

A lot of people left.  I was going to joke that if they hadn't have, I wouldn't have got this job, but I wasn't going to give you that opportunity.

A lot of people left, and coming out of that, I don't think all the efficiencies were achieved that people thought.

And you know, we kind of looked at how we were going to run the business, but then immediately we got into the White Paper of the Energy Competition Act, the possibility of sale, so the direction came to us:  You need to continue to hold the line.  You need to keep staff levels low, because if we sell this, we don't want to have you hiring up staff, getting your expenses back to normal.  Keep your expenditures low.

So it was not, you know, to increase profits or whatnot.  That is not the point I was making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you made a comment that at the beginning, there was a surprisingly high return on equity.

MR. KEECH:  Artificially high.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KEECH:  Because our operating expenses were artificially low.  The level of our operating expenses in '99 were not at the level that they needed to be going forward to sustain us.

And you know, I think most of us around here have -- were in the business back then that was our initial unbundling, our initial rate-basing, I call it.

And you know, we were allowed a certain level of return at that time, and then, you know, with regulations that came in, that was spread over three years and a bunch of other stuff.  And it just -- it worked against us, and we are still suffering from it today.

But – sorry, I am going get I am getting long-winded here -- but the point I am trying to go back to is this was not done to create shareholder equity when they sold the utility.  In all honesty, the direction was to hire people.

If you can get people to go other places or whatnot, do that, so if we sell, people aren't harmed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I mean, it sounds like what you are saying is that a confluence of circumstances got you stuck with a low revenue requirement, and this is really -- today, in 2011 -- your first opportunity to struggle out of that.  Is that the short story?

MR. KEECH:  I think you and I are going to agree on something finally.  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We do.  All right.  So the part I don't understand, then -- you are not the only utility that got unfairly treated at that time, believe me.  The part I don't understand is why in 2004, '05, '06, you didn't say:  Look, it doesn't matter whether we have enough money to pay your dividend, City of Kingston.  We have to spend money on this utility.  This has to be fixed now, not in five years.

MR. KEECH:  I may look for some assistance here from my financial experts, but the level of dividend and return to the city has been very minimal.

I think if you look at the application, the dividend going forward is nil, I believe.

And you know, there was an expectation of a higher level of dividend when we incorporated, no question about it, but that has not materialized.

And you know, this is always somewhat of a balance with the shareholder.  And the shareholder is the municipality.  You know, one of the interesting things that the municipality does is take the money that they get from this and put it into capital assets for the city.

But you know, I know that at this point they have come to realize that it is more important this money get reinvested in the infrastructure, as opposed to them getting the dividend.  I was actually hoping the mayor would be here today.  I don't think -- he wasn't able to make it, but if he was, I think you could bring him up here and he would say the same thing, which I think is positive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I am moving to another area.  I have about another 20 to 30 minutes.  Would you like to take the break now?

MS. CONBOY:  Sure.  Sorry, I was looking at Mr. Taylor to see if his witnesses needed a break.

So let's break for 15 minutes and we will be back at quarter to.

--- Recess taken at 3:29 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:50 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All three of us jumping on you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There we go.  You didn't want to miss a word of it; right?

MS. CONBOY:  Well...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm saying nothing.

I want to follow up on a couple of minor issues here.  The first arises out of page 16 of the Energy Probe compendium.  What I want to ask about is the station 3 spending that you have currently in -- you have added to 2011, the $968,000.

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in -- on page 16, you have a million-five in 2012.  Is that $968,000 included in there?

MR. JOYCE:  I think as I indicated before, I don't actually have the detail on this, so I can't answer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that million-five you said earlier is very high for that category; right?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could tell us, in your -- you have a multi-year capital plan?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In your multi-year capital plan, when was station 3 to be done before you moved it out to 2011?

MR. JOYCE:  The multi-year capital plan is at a high level, and based more on the pooling of the assets and the age.  So it is more of a theoretical.  So we have a short-term plan that is more project-based.

And that is in large -- largely due to the reactive nature.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But in account 1820, it is quite clear that you have been forecasting the biggies in 2012 and 2013; right?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 968 is big enough to forecast --


MR. JOYCE:  That is largely due to substation number 1, the rebuild of that substation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but you have also got a big number for 2012 in 1820, and that presumably is because you thought there was a pig big project in there; right?

MR. JOYCE:  That could be part of substation number 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then, see, I don't see where you have room in this budget for $968,000 of station number 3, when it wasn't in 2011.

When it wasn't in 2011, when were you going to do it?

MR. JOYCE:  Again, it would be based on a prioritization in 2011 of when we would undertake that.  Substation number 1 financing is not included in this application.

So it in all likelihood would have been done in 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What, station number 3?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I just asked you that and you said you don't know.

MR. JOYCE:  What I said was that I don't know.

I am saying that I would suspect that we would undertake substation number 3 work in 2012.  I don't know whether this 1.5 million includes that, or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you just said the 1.5 million, the big increase in that is because of substation number 1 work; right?

MR. JOYCE:  I suspect so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I look at this and I don't see where you have any room in your multi-year budget for $968,000 in station 3.

MR. JOYCE:  At the point when this was produced, I am not sure that we had the firm numbers for substation number 3 of $968,000.  In fact, I am quite certain it was less than that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is certainly fair to conclude that you didn't specifically budget it for any of 2011, 2012 or 2013; right?

MR. JOYCE:  No.  The 2012 and 2013 is more set on the theoretical, with the exception of substation number 1 is contemplated in this table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the other thing I wanted to ask you about is -- and I think this was you, Mr. Murphy, but I could be wrong.  Earlier today, in answering questions from Mr. Aiken, you said, with respect to your capital spending planning, that you were - and this is a quote - "trying to provide for a smoothing out of our capital expenditures in the next few years".

I don't remember exactly who said that, but I wrote it down exactly as it was said.  Can you tell me what that meant?

MR. MURPHY:  So what that means is, over the next four years, we've budgeted a revenue requirement that equals what is in our rate application.

So we have revenue requirement, expected revenues and we also have borrowings in our application.  And over the next four years, we have budgeted approximately -- or, sorry, from 2010 to 2014, we budgeted approximately $23 million in capital expenditures and financed with -- the majority with debt.

And at the end of 2014, which is our last period of our IRM, we meet our financial ratio targets with our bank facility.

So the $23 million, then, was essentially divided by five to do a staged approach over the four years and smooth the capital spending, such that 2010 was 4.46, 2011 was 4.5, 2012 and 2013 was 4.7 each, and 2014 we have 5 million in the plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the fact that you saved some money in 2010 meant that you could carry that over and add it to that $23 million?

MR. MURPHY:  Not add it to the 23 million, because it was already included in the $23 million.  It was simply a shift from 2010 to 2011 based on not having to make the Hydro One payment, et cetera.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it meant that like 7 or $800,000 of other projects could make the grade that wouldn't otherwise have made the grade?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect, okay.  I want to turn to the cost of debt.  I have two questions in this area.  The first is:  Could you turn to page 18 of 42 of the Energy Probe compendium, please?  Do you have that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, I have that page.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your weighted average cost of debt calculation, your current one; right?

MR. MURPHY:  No.  It is the original application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do we have an update of this somewhere?

MR. MURPHY:  It was updated with the settlement agreement, because we settled on the non-affiliate debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so is that attached to the settlement agreement?  I looked and I didn't see it.

MR. MURPHY:  I believe we filed the revenue requirement work form with the settlement agreement, and it would have been included in there, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah?  Okay.  I will take a look.

I take it, if not, you are happy to provide it?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

And the other thing with respect to interest rate on long-term debt, the specific issue is the interest rate on the city note.

In School Energy Coalition No. 19, we asked you, Please provide us with the promissory note.  And, instead, you provided us with a resolution of the city; right?

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd, which round of interrogatories?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, School Energy Coalition round number 1, No. 19.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  We have used the certificate of passing of resolution as our debt instrument.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then we asked you in our follow-up, School Energy Coalition second round Interrogatory No. 11, No, what we would like is the promissory note or the loan agreement.

I take it, from your inability to provide that, that there is no promissory note.  There is no loan agreement.  Is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  There is no promissory note.  However, the certificate of passing of resolution has the details in it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, understood.  But there is no document in which the utility and the city are parties or the utility and Utilities Kingston are parties, for that matter anybody, that sets out what the deal is.  What the terms --


MR. MURPHY:  Other than the resolution regarding the debt that the shareholder made on July 7th, 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then I want to turn to the interest on the bank account.  And you could turn to School Energy Coalition round one Interrogatory 2 (b).

MR. MURPHY:  I have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what this sets out is the average balance in the bank account that you have with the city each year in 2009, '10, and forecast for 2011; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, there is no actual bank account; right?  Like, a separate bank account, that this is the utility's money?

MR. MURPHY:  Kingston Hydro does have its own bank account, as well as we have funds in the city's bank account to pay our monthly expenses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what do you use your own bank account for?

MR. MURPHY:  It is to pay -- we have a loan, a 10-year loan, one of the loans that goes in and out of our bank account, and had to go in and out of our bank account.  So it is used for that.

In addition, anytime we borrow on the operating line, the funds get deposited into Kingston Hydro's bank account, because it is myself doing the transacting, and then I authorize the transfer to the city so they have money to make our payments, their accounting department.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on an operational basis, I mean, aside from these exceptions because the bank had rules, everything goes through the city bank account; right?

MR. MURPHY:  What do you mean from an operational point?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That all of your expenses are paid out of that, all of your revenues goes into that, loans, capital expenditures, everything are actually paid or received by the city, not by the utility; right?

MR. MURPHY:  The revenues go into the city's bank account, from their -- we contact the cashiers there, and the expenses come out of the city's bank account.

I think you mentioned loans, too, and they do not.  The interest in that comes out of Kingston Hydro bank account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The way that works as a practical matter is the city transfers, periodically, money into the Kingston Hydro bank account to cover interest; right?

MR. MURPHY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, if you get a loan from -- like, you got a $2.5 million loan in December or when -- something like that, that money goes into the Kingston Hydro bank account, and then you immediately transfer it to the city; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  It is to increase so they have enough money to make our payments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are anticipating that the balance in the city bank account will average $5.6 million in the test year?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That goes up and down?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  It fluctuates month to month.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much does it fluctuate?

MR. MURPHY:  I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a daily balance record; right?   You get paid interest on the daily balance; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have a record of that?

MR. MURPHY:  We have a record, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us the daily balances for the last 12 months?

MR. MURPHY:  I believe we could, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  to PROVIDE DAILY BANK ACCOUNT BALANCE FOR LAST 12 MONTHS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is nothing to stop you from repaying the city note; right?  You could repay it at any time?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, we could.  We would want to get board authorization to do that.

We have considered it in the past, but we consider it embedded debt, shareholder loan debt upon incorporation, and it is incorporating debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you and make sure I am clear.

When you say "board authorization" you mean board of directors, not this Board?

MR. MURPHY:  That's correct, our own board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you never considered whether it would be more cost-effective to pay that off and borrow it on the market?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  We have -- we considered it a couple of years ago, but the decision was made at the board level that we should keep it the way it is.  The interest rate was already included in our rates for the '06 application, and the shareholder considers it embedded debt.  The rate hasn't changed.  It is incorporating debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in excess of current market rates; right?

MR. MURPHY:  It is in excess of current market rates, but not the rate that was set when the loan was made.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you were coming in for this application, did you consider whether you should renegotiate either the rate, or just pay it off and borrow it somewhere else?

MR. MURPHY:  No.  That wasn't considered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the last area I have questions on is this tax adjustment, the OPEB tax adjustment.

I have to tell you I read the evidence on this, like, five times, and I spent a decade as a tax lawyer and I still don't get it.  So I am going to ask you to help me understand it.

It is true, isn't it, that the -- that the obligation to pay employees post-employment benefits is not a Kingston Utilities obligation or Kingston Hydro obligation?  It is a Utilities Kingston obligation; right?

MR. MURPHY:  Both companies have the obligation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Do you employ these employees?

MR. MURPHY:  No, we don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have no obligation to them to pay them anything; right?

MR. MURPHY:  We don't have any obligation to the employees.  However, we do have an obligation to Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I thought I heard you say earlier today that that obligation isn't written anywhere; it is just your understanding that it is a pass-through cost?

MR. MURPHY:  It is our understanding and interpretation of the service agreement with Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not what I heard you say earlier, because you were asked where does it say in the services agreement that you have to pay this cost, and I didn't hear you -- what I heard you say is it is not in there.

MR. MURPHY:  I think it was the rate I was asked, but I could be wrong.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is it in there, that obligation?  If it is, that would simplify a lot of things.

MR. MURPHY:  It is not in there specifically.  However, the general purpose of the agreement is that each utility would be charged the expenses that they're accountable for.

So the hydro expenses flow out of Utilities Kingston and on to the books of Kingston Hydro, and it is shown as a receivable on Utilities Kingston's books.  And the same entry is made for the other municipal utilities within Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, Utilities Kingston doesn't even report the -- in its financial statements, any of the obligations, liabilities, assets, revenue or expenses of the electricity distribution company; right?  They're excluded entirely?

MR. MURPHY:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they don't actually have anything on their books for this; they just treat it as yours; right?

MR. MURPHY:  No.  There is an entry on the books in the liabilities.  On Utilities Kingston's balance sheet, there is a liability for the total future -- employee future benefits for all of Utilities Kingston's employees.

Then there is also a corresponding receivable from the City of Kingston and from Kingston Hydro for the split between the employees for that obligation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on the balance sheet, assets and liabilities are recognized on Utilities Kingston, but on the income statement, none of the revenues and expenses are in there; right?

MR. MURPHY:  There are revenues and expenses there, and they would equal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For Kingston Hydro?

MR. MURPHY:  No.  Sorry, I thought you were referring to Utilities Kingston.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about Kingston Hydro's activities, how are they recorded on the Utilities Kingston financial statements.

My understanding is that they're not.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, they are.  The amount of the increase in the liability would be shown as an expense to Kingston Hydro, in the year the expense is incurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  We're talking at cross-purposes.  I am really only going after OPEB here, but let's nail this down.

Utilities Kingston's financial statements, as I understand it, don't include any revenues and expenses associated with the electricity distribution business; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they don't include any assets or liabilities related to the electricity distribution business; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then Utilities Kingston doesn't record, in its financial statements, that it owes this $290,000, right, this OPEB amount?  Right?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes, it does include that on its balance sheet as a liability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But didn't you just tell me that this is a liability of Kingston Hydro?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  I think where we may be not understanding each other is there is a schedule of contracted services in Utilities Kingston's financial statements that is shown at the end of their financial statements, which show all of the revenues that Utilities Kingston charges the city and Kingston Hydro for op-ex and cap-ex, and then shows all of the expenses that Utilities Kingston incurs for op-ex and cap-ex, and it nets to zero.


That is why I think they're shown as an appendix to Utilities Kingston's statements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is what they charge the city?


MR. MURPHY:  For the municipal employees.  For the employees of Utilities Kingston that work on the municipal utilities, they would charge the city for the -- yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do they do the same thing for the utility?


MR. MURPHY:  For Kingston Hydro, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me understand how this tax break works -- or this tax cost works.


There is an amount that is an expense related to future post employment benefits, right, of $290,000, which is a change in the reserve; right?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  What we did for the purposes of our application is we took -- we expect the future benefits to go up, and we took that increase from 2010 to 2011 and divided it by four, and added one-quarter of the expenses to 2011 op-ex.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so there is a -- I thought we were just dealing with a tax adjustment.  There is a $290,000 operating expense associated with this increase?


MR. MURPHY:  No.  No, it is one quarter of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could take a look at Energy Probe No. -- I am still confused -- Energy Probe No. 55.  That is first round, I think.  No, it may be actually second round.  Just let me check.


Yes, it is.  It would be the second round.  It will actually be -- sorry, update, because they were marked sequentially.  So it is interrogatory responses filed February 18th, Energy Probe No. 55.  Do you have that?


MR. MURPHY:  I don't have that.  I can't locate it.  Energy Probe 55?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It is about two-thirds of the way through the February 18th filing right after the insurance stuff.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay, I have it now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this -- in (a), I take it this calculation of reserves is at the Utilities Kingston level, is that right, or is that at the Kingston Hydro level?


MR. MURPHY:  It is at the Kingston Hydro level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the 290 is not a quarter of 290.  It is actually 290; right?


MR. MURPHY:  The 290 is made up of an estimated $40,000 in annual amortization, plus a $250,000 increase for staffing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But no part of it is a quarter of that; right?  That was wrong?


MR. MURPHY:  The increase in the liability is the full liability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  So there is a $290,000 expense in your 2011 OM&A?


MR. MURPHY:  No, there isn't.  I took the 290 and I subtracted a $40,000 annual amortization expense, to come up with 250.


I then said, okay, 250 over the four-year period is 62,525.  So that is the amount that was added to op-ex that is included in our 2011 op-ex amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you are saying it is a one-time expense?


MR. MURPHY:  It relates to the total staffing increase we have requested.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what I didn't understand, because in (c) here, you say that what you did is you calculated how much future benefit liabilities are per employee; right?


MR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It ends up being about $22,500; right?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you hire somebody, you know at the time you hire them they're eventually going to cost you $22,500?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you said - and I am looking at the next page now - well, we don't have 13 new employees, so multiply that by $22,500.  That is what we have to pay; right?


MR. MURPHY:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't actually have to pay that now?


MR. MURPHY:  No, but it is a current expense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is a current expense for -- not for regulatory purposes.  It is not in your regulatory budget.


MR. MURPHY:  That's right.  That's why we included one-quarter of that expense in 2011 op-ex, because it is a four-year period.  We didn't feel it was appropriate to add 250 to our op-ex for 2011.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But these employees have just started.


MR. MURPHY:  That's correct.  They're future benefits.  So these are benefits that are paid after employees retire, which are current expenses under generally accepted accounting principles.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is like a cost of hiring a person from an accounting point of view?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  You could think of it that way.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So included in your revenue requirement is $62,500, or something like that, for this amortized over four years; right?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Plus 40,000 for the current amount for this year?


MR. MURPHY:  Which has been an ongoing regular expense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is, what, an amortization of previous amounts of 22,500 each?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  It is brought in every year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So why do your existing 48 employees only cost you $40,000 a year and the new ones are going to cost you 62.5 and there are only 13 of them?


MR. MURPHY:  I took the total employees allocated to Kingston Hydro in each year and estimated with the increase, so $22,000 per employee, and I went back to 2006 to see if that was a reasonable estimate, when I found it was.  It was 23,000 per employee back in 2006, which was -- which our future benefit liability was.


So I thought if it is $22,500 per employee and we are adding 13 employees, then our future benefits will increase accordingly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you do that with every new employee?  You book a cost of 22,500?


MR. MURPHY:  It is taken care of in the actual valuation every year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't do it for new employees normally?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes, we would.  It is taken care of through the annual actuarial valuations we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, again, we are talking at cross-purposes.  I don't understand how you have 40,000 carry-over from previous years, when those previous year's employees are already booked; right?


MR. MURPHY:  Those are what is termed unamortized actuarial losses, and it is an actuarial calculation that is done that gets charged to the company every year.  So it is based on losses that, you know -- the benefits losses, you would have to engage an actuary to figure out how they do it, but they give us the entries.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have this $22,500 per employee --


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that you are charging this year, which you are spreading over four years.  But then we can assume that there is going to be additional costs associated with unamortized losses in the future; right?


MR. MURPHY:  That would depend on if there were losses in the future.  So I think that is an assumption that will be rectified every year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now let's get to the tax component of it.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you have this $62,500 included in your expenses; right?  And how does that impact your tax liability?


MR. MURPHY:  So when we filled out the PILs return, these are non-deductible liabilities for tax purposes.


So we are required to add back the end-of-year balance, and subtract the beginning-of-year balance when we calculate our PILs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not charging 290 this year in expenses, so why would you be adding it back?


MR. MURPHY:  We are required to add back the total liability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, for accounting purposes, but you did it differently for regulatory purposes.  So I don't understand why your regulatory tax calculation isn't also adjusted the same way.


MR. MURPHY:  Over the four years?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Otherwise, aren't we paying the tax on it this year and then again in each of the next three years?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes, we would be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you undertake to provide a correcting calculation?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes, I could do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.  And those are my questions.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd, could you perhaps just clarify the exact nature of the calculation you are seeking in this undertaking?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was hoping not to have to do that, but yes.  Yes, the calculation is, if you have the T2 S1 adjustments match the regulatory treatment you are proposing, what would the impact on test year tax rate
be -- tax amount be, PILs.


MR. MURPHY:  So instead of adding back the 250, we would add back one quarter of that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  All right.  That will be Undertaking 1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  to RECONCILE FIGURES PROVIDED FOR ACCOUNTING TAX CALCULATION AND REGULATORY TAX CALCULATION.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I am finished.  Thank you very much.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. Helt -- sorry.  Mr. Taylor?


MR. TAYLOR:  I actually just wanted to say to the Panel that there will be an opportunity for re-examination after the cross-examination.  So if there is anything else you want to say, then we will deal with it at that point.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Good afternoon, members of the witness panel.  I know it has been a long day for you.  Fortunately, I am the last to ask questions, and a number of the questions that have been prepared have already been asked, so that will make my cross-examination somewhat more succinct.


I would like to deal with the issues in the order in which they appear in the procedural order, so going from Issue 1 through to Issue 7.


I can tell you I have no questions with respect to either Issues 1 or 2.  So my first questions, then, will relate to Issue No. 3.


I believe you do have the Board Staff evidence compendium, which is marked as Exhibit K1.3.  I will be making reference to certain documents in that compendium throughout my cross-examination.


With respect to remaining Issue No. 3, cap-ex expenditures for 2011, I would like you to refer to the document noted as C12 in the compendium.  That is a Board Staff update to IR No. 1, or Kingston Hydro update to Board Staff IR No. 1.  Specifically, in that response, you indicate that the rate base is $729,974 lower than in the original proposal.


Could you just provide the general drivers for the decrease in the rate base?


MR. MURPHY:  The general drivers for the decrease in the rate base were as a result of the settlement agreement.  The settlement agreement, we had $4.4 million of 2010 cap-ex, originally.  And we set the -- the settlement agreement was 3.215, and that was the major component.


MS. HELT:  So that explains why the drop is so significant?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  And were there any other factors other than that, the settlement?


MR. MURPHY:  I am trying to think of the settled issues, but...


The non-affiliate debt was settled at a lower rate than what we originally had in the application.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.


Also in Board Staff IR No. 1 on the update evidence, Staff asked you how the significant changes in the 2010 actual cap-ex and the number of new projects added did not have more of a significant impact on changing your 2011 planned cap-ex from those first filed in the summer of 2010 to the update provided in February.


So my question is that there are significant ups and downs in the 2010 capital plan, from that that was filed in the summer of 2010 to the update provided in document C13, which is a response to VECC No. 24(b) -- or 45, sorry.


So my question is:  Since the 2010 plans changed radically in terms of projects costs and new projects, why did your 2011 plans as updated not change more significantly or radically?


MR. JOYCE:  So I think we indicated in the response under (b), Fairway Hills was accelerated from 2011 capital plan project into 2010, so we completed that.


The other projects that were added were largely driven by things that were somewhat out of our control.  So TV 37, transformer vault 37, and transformer vault 51 were triggered by customer complaint, that, once investigated, we determined that both of the vaults had serious structural problems, as well as leaking transformers.


So that work was undertaken on an urgent basis.


Benson Street transformer and cabling project was driven by an inspection of the vault.  That determined that one wall was caving in.  So we undertook work there to convert that to a pad-mounted transformer.


Then we had substation equipment that was purchased to replace some faulty test equipment, and we had some radio equipment that got replaced as well, due to some faulty equipment, radio equipment.


Finally, the other additional project was the metering equipment and that was to respond to some quality complaints on three-phase power, and we didn't have the metering equipment to actually analyze that.  So it was purchased to do that, as well as some DRAs, measuring devices, to deal with some loading on circuits that we were experiencing.


So I would say that we moved up what we could move up, and then the rest was projects that came about that were largely out of our control, and that we had to respond to.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  If I can ask you to refer to C16, Interrogatory No. 29, reference Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 8, which deals with substation M1 and the fire in the station which occurred in 2009.


In the response, you indicate that it was a significant event and that you recognize the criticality of substation 1.


Given that response -- and I know we touched on this a little bit earlier, but it wasn't quite clear to me why the rebuild or repair of this station wasn't considered a priority and not on the list of capital projects for 2011, but it does appear in your forecast for 2013 at a forecast cost of over 9 million.


MR. KEECH:  I think there is -- I will attempt to answer this one.


I think there are a number of issues to this, and this, I think, could be deemed as a fairly strategic project for Kingston Hydro going forward.


One of the primary issues is the financial burden that this will place on us once this project is started, and it is in the neighbourhood of a $20 million project when it is all done.  And there are quite a number of issues leading up to us actually starting construction.


Again, if I can go back to some of my earlier comments, Kingston is a very old city with a lot of history.  You may think this is good or you may think it is bad, but it is in a very historic building with historic designation.  So there are some things that we need to deal with before we can undertake any construction.

Also, in that area of the city, there have been some significant environmental issues of coal tar in the area.  So there is a fair amount of legwork and planning that is going to actually have to take place before we start the construction.

So I think all of those together, but mainly the financial issue, if we were to endeavour on a $20 million expenditure, it is going to put a number of other very critical projects on hold.

The other comment is although it is an old station, and without getting too technical, there are a number of things in the operations of the station that you could probably mitigate damage.  There are six transformers as opposed to two, so you could take one out of service.  There are a number of buses.  There are a number of secondary breakers.

So, you know, going back to some of the questions we were asked earlier about risk mitigation, we have looked at that seriously.

Now, if you were to give us $20 million, then we could afford -- yeah, we would start it tomorrow.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Keeping in line with the cap-ex questions, if we could look at the figures with respect to annual overhead line rebuilds, which are noted at Exhibit C -- or compendium C15, small Roman numeral iv.  It's called "Appendix A 2011 Capital Project Description", and it is the next page over, Table 1, 2011 forecast capital project expenditures revised February 4, 2011.

Do you have that?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  If you can note that there that the annual overhead line rebuilds is noted at 1.3 million for 2011, and I believe in 2010 it is 1,015 million, and that is at C15, ii.

My question to you is:  Have you continually invested over a million each year for the past five years or so in overhead line rebuilds, and does this continue to be the same for the future?

MR. JOYCE:  I would have to -- we do have that in the evidence.  Generally speaking, the annual overhead rebuilds has been in the -- historically in the range of around the 700- to $1 million mark.

MS. HELT:  How much overhead line rebuilding, as a percentage of your total system, does this average of approximately $700,000 to $1 million cover?

MR. JOYCE:  Are you talking about the historical, or in future?

MS. HELT:  Both.

MR. JOYCE:  Historically, if you go back a few more years, I think the amount probably was around $500,000, subject for me to actually check some of that.

But the rebuilds has probably been anywhere between, I'd say, 25 to 50 percent.

MS. HELT:  That's 25 to 50 percent of your annual program?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. JOYCE:  Going forward, that number would probably be around the 20 to 25 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that because you are currently dealing with under-investment from past years, or is that for other reasons?

MR. JOYCE:  The state of our infrastructure - and certainly the photos allude to this in the evidence - some of the photos show pictures of the poles that we have and the level of deterioration in those poles, where you can put your arm through the base of the pole.

The underground infrastructure is in similar shape.  Underground infrastructure, though, is much more capital-intensive.

So that work has generally not been done in the past because of the cost and the limitations on the available dollars to us.

So we have been starting in the last two, three years now undertaking some of that underground work, and that is the plan going forward, is that we would continue maintaining or just slightly increasing on the pole, but, as a percentage of the total capital, we are looking to put more reinvestment and fix the deteriorated assets on the underground and on substations.

MR. KEECH:  If I could add to this, going back to the question on the poles, and I think this is in line with the questioning.

If you go to Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 7, page 2 of 75, there is a chart there that I think gives a pretty good indication as to what we are dealing with.  So that was Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 7, and page 2.

And it indicates, by a percentage, the age of our poles.  So I will just -- because it is at the top, I will start at the top.  So 41 percent of our poles are between 50 and 74 years.

And I don't think you need to be a distribution engineer to realize that that is probably beyond the end of the life.  If you go through that section in further detail, which I won't bother reading, I think that gives a good explanation in regards to your question, that is in evidence, of the condition of our overhead poles.

MS. HELT:  That's fine.  Just to confirm, you are planning on spending $1.3 million in 2011 on the overhead lines?

MR. JOYCE:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  If we can then go to Issue No. 4, with respect to the income earned on funds held in the City of Kingston's bank account.  Quite a few questions have already been asked with respect to this.

I would just like to ask one question.  If you turn to document C22 in Exhibit K1.3, it is Interrogatory No. 10, reference Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1.

In this document, you indicate the average balances held in the bank account with the City of Kingston and the average balances quoted -- oh, all right.  I'm sorry, reference to C7.  That was my mistake.

It is Interrogatory 2, which basically sets out the average balances in the City of Kingston's bank account for the years 2009 to 2011.

You would agree with me that from 2009 to 2011, the average balance has appeared to be more than doubled?  Do you agree that that is correct?

MR. MURPHY:  To a certain extent.  The amounts in the city's bank account that were recorded as the average balances are correct.

However, at the end of 2009 we had 1.85 million in our own bank account that had yet to be transferred.  So when I calculated the averages, I used the beginning-of-year and end-of-year amounts.

So that 2009 average I don't believe factored in the amount sitting in our own bank account, which would have been transferred over in early 2010.

MS. HELT:  Okay, then.  So that explains why there appears to be such a large increase in the balance --


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  -- because the 1.8 million had not yet been transferred?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

Issue 5, OM&A expenses.  I would first like to ask some general questions with respect to cohort comparisons.  So if you would turn to document C19, have you got that?  Yes?

In your evidence you indicate that the cost per customer will be $254 per customer for your test year of 2011; is that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  And then in the next document in the compendium, C20, the response to Energy Probe IR 19, where comparisons are provided with the other distributors in your cohort, Kingston has an OM&A – or OM&M cost per customer of $197 in 2009?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  So you are moving from $197 per customer in 2009 to 254 per customer in 2011; is that a fair characterization of your evidence?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  That is without going, doing the math.  Yes, that is.

MS. HELT:  So if -- I have done some rough math, and subject to check, would you agree that that is an increase of approximately 29 percent over two years?

MR. KEECH:  I would be willing to take your word on that, because we realize it is a significant increase.

MS. HELT:  All right.  You also indicated that at a 2011 level of $254 per customer, you will raise your standing within your cohort from tenth out of 15 in 2009 to fifth in 2011.  Can you just explain why you believe that this jump is reasonable?

MR. KEECH:  I think the answer to that would go back, really, to some of the opening comments I made and some of the comments that I made in answering the questions.

Our belief, our strong belief, is that our OM&A expenses have been significantly lower than what they should be to keep the system in the condition that it needs to be for a number of years.

And we view this as an opportunity to catch up.

As I said, there is, you know, significant additional expenses in staff, and I think the staff is one thing that has been pointed to by other people today.  We are well aware of that, and we think -- well, no, I would be much stronger than that.  We firmly believe that they're needed.

They're needed to move from a reactive to a proactive system of management.  They're needed to help us in preparing for retirements.  They're needed to help us respond to regulatory requirements.  And as I said, I am not making those comments in regards to the Ontario Energy Board, but to a number of organizations.

So yes, we are aware of that.  We realize it is significant.  We realize that it is going to come under a lot of scrutiny, but we firmly believe it is necessary.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  The next question I have is –- it's related to the undertaking that has already been given to Mr. Aiken.  Undertaking J1.3 was with respect to providing a full-year update to the 2010 year-end spending table, which is found in the evidence at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 2, table 1.  And it is referred to in our compendium at C24.

We would just like to have that compendium or that undertaking expanded to ensure that specifics are provided by detailed category, as shown in this table.

Would you undertake to provide that?

MR. JOYCE:  Yes, we can provide that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  to ENSURE THAT UPDATE REQUESTED IN UNDERTAKING J1.3 IS PROVIDED BY DETAILED CATEGORY, AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT 4, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 2, TABLE 1.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Now, I would like to ask a few questions about general category increases, and we will stay with that same document found at compendium C24.

For instance, one of the first questions I have that under "Operations" the numbers show Kingston going from under a million dollars in 2006 for operations to just over 2.6 million in 2011.

Can you explain why these operation costs are increasing at such a pace, leading to the test year?

MR. KEECH:  I think, without repeating what I have just said, it is really very much the same reasoning that I gave for the last question.

It's very much a catch-up, very much a move to being proactive.  I think the other point that I didn't make is, I mean, this is an increase in 2011, but the increases we get in 2011 will be for the next four years, because it will be four years before we probably have an opportunity to address this again.

And this is probably a point that I should have made earlier when I was talking about retirements and whatnot, because the question came up that not everybody is going to retire today, but unfortunately, we don't have the opportunity to come back in a year or two years, as people retire.

So there is a part of the answer to the question that should reflect that as well.

But you know, generally, it just is an opportunity to catch up and start to put in place the work force that we need to do the work the system requires.

MS. HELT:  I assume you would have a similar sort of answer for the jump in the maintenance expenses, then, from 2009 to 2011?  Or are there --


MR. KEECH:  Yes.  I would say very much the same, yes.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Then continuing on with that document, at "Billing and Collections" it appears that Kingston has reduced costs since 2006, but then in 2010 there is a 43 percent increase.

Can you provide an explanation for that?

And in that context, within the billing and collecting, the bad debt expense also increases significantly in 2010, in that it goes from a negative number in 2009 actuals to $167,892 in 2010.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  I think the -- it is the "bad debt" expense line that is creating the overall billing and collecting variances.

So the bad debt expense in -- for 2009 was low due to the fact that our AR at the end of 2009 was really low.  Therefore, our allowance was adjusted accordingly.  So our allowance was moved down, which resulted in a negative bad debt expense for the year.

However, for the whole, you know, last four or five, six years, our bad debt expense, you know, is reflective, you know, 290, 250, and it is projected, I believe, at about 180 for 2010, again, so...

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  Community relations is next on the list, and again, there are large increases from 2009, 200,000, to 2011, 413,000.

I know we have discussed some of this previously, but can you just provide an explanation for the almost -- or just-greater-than-double increase for community relations expenses?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  I will answer that one.

There was an interrogatory that I think would be good to refer to as well, but I can't quite put my finger on it.

But this is an area, particularly in communications or lack of communications, that we are hearing comments from our customers that they would like to see us do better in.

And the type of issues I am talking about range from questions about outages, about what is happening with the electricity market, you know, with the 10 percent rebate that we just went through.  You know, a lot of questions.

So you know, quite a number of the questions can be answered by a customer service rep quite quickly, but then you have those people who want to get in a fair amount more detail, and we need some expertise to do that.

The other thing that we are finding in Kingston, and I am not saying Kingston is unique by any stretch, but we have three educational institutes, Queen's University, RMC and St. Lawrence College, and the demand for us to be much more proactive on social media is increasing significantly.

And, you know, even just, as I say, basic use of our website, we are getting more requests for that.

So a few years ago, it was thought to be quite proactive if you put an outage up on your website as to when you thought it may take place.  We thought we were doing pretty good with that.  But today people want to know, Well, when is it going to take place?  They want an update constantly, and if it is longer or shorter, they want to be informed of that.  And we don't have the expertise or the manpower to do that.

So it is those types of things I could go on a bit more, but hopefully that gives you a bit of an idea.

MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.  With respect to energy conservation, specifically under the heading of community relations, it also jumps.  Why is that increase necessary?

MR. KEECH:  This is an area that I would speak fairly different on from what a lot of my comments have been.  I think this is an area where we have been very proactive in Kingston, very proactive, and I think may be even viewed as a bit of a leader.

Part of that comes from our shareholder, who has a goal of being the most sustainable city in the country.  And, again, it's the educational institutions and some of the stuff that is going on in the city.

So there is, again, a fair amount of pressure for us to be proactive.  I think we have been proactive.  And with the CDM targets that we now have -- and I am fully aware there is OPA funding for some of this and that has been accounted for in the rate application.

But because we have been so proactive and, you know, done I think very well, and if you go back to one of the initial programs, the first fridge roundup, I think Kingston and London possibly were the two initial communities, and there was a bit of a competition.  And we were able to far exceed our targets for that.  So I think that is a good example.

So with all of that, we see growing demand and necessity to just, again, basically add more resources.

MS. HELT:  Can you confirm whether or not these numbers already include an offset from the OPA, which is the current 0.23 position?

MR. KEECH:  No, I don't think -- no, they don't.

MS. HELT:  And where would that fit in, then?

MR. KEECH:  I couldn't answer that offhand.

MS. HELT:  Will you undertake to make inquiries and advise us?

MR. KEECH:  Yes, yes.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12: TO CONFIRM WHETHER NUMBERS FOR ENERGY CONSERVATION ALREADY INCLUDE AN OFFSET FROM THE OPA.

MS. HELT:  If we look at documents C27 and C28, also dealing with staffing for community relations, with the addition of communications customer liaison professional for the corporation to work in the areas of CDM, smart metering, FIT and microFIT, can you just further explain why these positions are required and why they would not be funded by the OPA?

MR. KEECH:  Well, I think, again, I would be repeating a lot of what I said if I go back in detail.  But we see the work for these positions really above and beyond what the OPA funding is going to do.

MS. HELT:  Have you made any inquiries with the OPA with respect to funding these positions?

MR. KEECH:  We have had conversations with the OPA in regards to the funding for the different programs that we will get, but as far as funding of these positions directly, I would say not.

I think with, with what's going on with this portfolio at the moment, I think the OPA is fairly busy and I am not sure that we could get someone who could give this type of a question the attention right now.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If we can please turn to C30, dealing with shared services and corporate cost allocations?

In response to Board Staff Interrogatory 27, Kingston indicated that Kingston Hydro and the city collectively decided the advantages to the common utility services model were significant and wished to maintain this model.

Kingston then goes on to say:
"Cost savings were predicted by utilizing the shared services model.  In our view, cost savings have been achieved, although no formal studies have been undertaken to show the effectiveness of this model."

Can you provide us with an estimate of the cost savings that were predicted by using this model?

MR. KEECH:  No.  I wouldn't be able to, no.

MS. HELT:  But can you obtain the information and give an undertaking that you will make inquiries and use your best efforts to provide us with an estimate of the cost savings?

MR. KEECH:  I think that would be difficult to do, because now we are going back to 1998 and a number of people who were involved in those decisions wouldn't be available.  I think it would be difficult to get solid evidence that you are looking for.

MS. HELT:  All right.  That is fine, then.

You do indicate that no formal studies were undertaken, but can you provide any information that led you to believe that using this model would be more cost efficient than Kingston providing these services on its own?

MR. KEECH:  Now you are asking me to talk to that?

MS. HELT:  Yes.

MR. KEECH:  Okay, yes.  I think there are a number of examples, but there are some, I think, that stand out clearer.

Now, this one is a little outdated with smart meters, but the one we used initially was, as I indicated before - and this is even before the incorporation, so when we were just a department of the city - Utilities Kingston was responsible for the electric, water, gas and sewer services.

They're all cost-of-service models.  They all have separate books.  They all operate, you know, basically the same way that the electric utility does, and they're all based on meter readings.  All of them are based on meter readings, which I think is a bit unique for some communities.

So the example that we used was we have one meter reader at that time for the electric, water, gas and sewer -- no, the sewer you don't read the meter.  It is on the gas meter.

We have one billing system.  We have one envelope.  We have one stamp.  We have one bill, and then that works the same with our customers, and the customers who are in the old city of Kingston, who we provide all of the services for, are very pleased with the ability to get all of these services on one bill.  So that is one example.

You know, there are others, but I think that one drives it home the best.

MS. HELT:  All right, that's fine.

Another question with respect to compensation and staffing.  If you turn to C34, response to Board Staff IR No. 13, in this response Kingston Hydro indicates that approximately 46 percent of the compensatory increase for the test year 2011 is attributable to union wage increases, with the remainder being non-union compensation increases.

Now, you will note from the table that in each year, 2008 through to 2011, non-union staff's increase is more than that of union staff.

Can you comment on why that is?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  So the union staff, what's provided is the general inflationary increases that are in the IBEW contract that was negotiated.

For the non-union staff, we work on a -- I'm going to call it a pay-for-performance system, but it is not a bonus system.  I have to be very clear about that.  None of us can get bonuses.

And at the end of each year or the start of the next year, everybody goes through an evaluation process.  Employees are eligible today for increases from zero to 5 percent, based on your performance, based on if you attain the goals that we establish for you, and is also based on how you demonstrate the values that the corporation has in obtaining these goals.

And zero to 5 percent does two things.  That is your inflationary increase.  So there is no 1 percent, 2 percent, 3 percent beyond that.  That is your increase, and it also takes you through the steps.

So if you -- I think I talked earlier about an electric supervisor whose range is from 70- to 90,000.  So this percentage would be how he would step through that.  So that is basically how it works.

So for the union staff, in addition to the 2-1/2 to 3 percent increase, they also can get their yearly progressions, so that is not included in there.  We just included...

The other comment I need to make is 2008 shows an increase to the non-union of 5.3 percent.  At that time, the level for the increases for non-union was zero to 7 percent.  I have the authority to set that range up to 7 percent maximum, but the view was with the economic situation that we were in, a 7 percent increase was too rich.

So the maximum that people can get today -- and I think it has been the last two years -- has been 5 percent.

MS. HELT:  So just to confirm, then, part of your explanation is that the numbers and the percentages reflected for unionized staff increases doesn't include all of the increases?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  That -- so what we provided was the negotiated wage increase, so for this year it was a 2.5 percent across-the-board increase, but if we had an apprentice, then they may very well step through their stages and get an additional increase to that.

Hopefully, we understood the question correctly.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  That's fine.  Just two more questions with respect to Issue 5.  If you can turn to C31, please, this is in response to Board Staff IR 28, asking for any study on cost allocation criteria.

And Kingston responds that there is no study.  However, shortly after, the BDR study is printed.

Do you know when the BDR study was commissioned?

MS. TAYLOR:  It was commissioned in, I believe, August of 2009 –- '10, sorry.

MS. HELT:  So it wasn't in response to the interrogatory being received?

MS. TAYLOR:  No, it was not.

MS. HELT:  Can you advise why Kingston commissioned the study in the first place?

MS. TAYLOR:  I guess it would be fair to say on preparing our application, we realized this might be an area that would be subject to questions, and that it would be appropriate to get a third-party review.

MS. HELT:  And Kingston Hydro commissioned the report, not Utilities Kingston; is that correct?

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, actually, you did.

MR. TAYLOR:  Actually, I commissioned the report.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Then if we turn to the next document in the compendium, C32, with respect to the BDR report, Kingston provides a summary table of the actions taken in response to the report.

I notice that all of the recommendations lead to an increase in the allocation to Kingston Hydro.  Can you explain why that is?

MS. TAYLOR:  Actually, I am not sure they all do.  There is a number that the consultant said were fine the way they were.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So they're either the same or they lead to an increase?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  Typically, if I could just take you to where some of those increases are occurring, for example, the space allocation, which is the occupancy cost, it is the last item on the table.

MS. HELT:  Right.

MS. TAYLOR:  When I did the analysis as to what -- the consultant recommended a different allocation method.  We were using a customer -- or a customer base method.  But when I went through employee by employee, one of the things that skewed this more towards Kingston Hydro is that we have approximately 30 to 40 employees in the water and sewage treatment groups that don't occupy any space in this building.

So on looking at the -- going through employee by employee, first looking at how the employee should be allocated and then their occupancy of space, that is what is driving the increase.

There are a number of employees that are with other utilities that don't occupy space in our building.

Another good example, under the area of human resources, it was recommended that we go through and look at an FTE equivalent.  That changes things a little bit.  There is about -- if you look at the FTE proportions versus the customer proportions, it is a little bit higher.

That also drives the computer, the IT allocations.

So we actually -- for the ones that have been completed with recommendations -- we have gone through employee by employee, looked at, first, how the employees should be allocated among the utilities, and then how they should be allocated amongst space, among health and safety, among IT requirements and that sort of thing.

MS. HELT:  And would a similar answer apply to the increases seen for training and information systems, as well?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, that's right.

MS. HELT:  Did Kingston Hydro question any of these findings, or did you accept them and act on them?

MS. TAYLOR:  At this point, I would say they're still preliminary.  As you can see from this chart, there are still a number we need to go through.

And some of the recommendations are that we do more direct charging, which is something that we are considering.  About 80 percent of our employees are already on time sheets.

So we are looking -- the areas that the recommendations apply, it is those last 20 percent, and we will be looking at putting those in place on time sheets as well, so that we have a direct allocation method.

MS. HELT:  So for the purposes of 2011, however, you have accepted these increases as indicated?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  I do have a few questions on Issues 6 and 7.  I don't think I will be more than 15 minutes.  Is that all right for me to continue, then, or did you want to --


MS. CONBOY:  Well, let's look to Mr. Taylor.  He is going to have the opportunity for redirect, and I am not sure how long you are going to be.  I am not suggesting we are going to rush you, Ms. Helt, but it is a matter of whether we come back tomorrow, or whether you have a short enough redirect that you would like to get it completed today.

MR. TAYLOR:  It will be very short.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So proceed?

MS. CONBOY:  So let's proceed.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So turning, then, to Issue No. 6 with respect to the PILs question, at document C36, you will see it is a Board Staff update IR No. 4.  I am going to refer to that with respect to these questions, and I also have a copy of the PILs Decision and Settlement Agreement, which I would like to provide to you.  I will just be making references to that Decision, and perhaps we could have that marked for the purpose of this proceeding as Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4: DECISION IN EB-2008-0381, WITH PROPOSED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

MS. HELT:  So marked as Exhibit K1.4 will be the decision in EB-2008-0381, with the attached proposed settlement agreement.

If I can direct your attention, then, to document C36, Kingston Hydro notes on the fourth page -- just give me a moment here.  On the fourth page of that document, the paragraph at the top of the page, "The Applicant"?

Do you see where I am referring to?
"The Applicant would like to point out the following statement was made at the Settlement Agreement.  'The general principle that was part of the Board's methodology at the relevant time was the tax liabilities included in the distributor's return, that should be included in the PILs calculation.'"

And then Kingston Hydro goes on to say:

"Based on the above principle, Kingston Hydro's true tax liabilities should be and have been included in its PILs calculation."

If I can just, then, refer you to the settlement agreement, page 11.

It provides the quote that Kingston Hydro set out with respect to the general principle concerning the Board's methodology, but then it goes on to note that:
"Post employment benefit liabilities are accrued by the entity that directly employs the future recipients of post employment benefits, and are thus among the liabilities included in the distributor's tax return only if the distributor is the direct employer of the employees."

Now, I know other intervenors have asked questions with respect to this, but I think the evidence has been clear - and correct me if I am wrong - that Kingston Hydro does not have direct employees.

So can you explain why, then, Kingston Hydro is entitled to include post employment benefit liabilities?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  I think if we were not a virtual utility and had our own employees, we would have this amount in our rates and in our PILs.

With respect to the last question in the reasons for agreement -- sorry, the last sentence in the reasons for agreement, it says:
"...the liabilities are included in the distributor's tax return only if the distributor is the direct employer of the employees."

And we don't agree with that statement in our situation, due to the fact that we have a letter from our tax advisor, particular to Kingston Hydro, that says that we are required to add these back.

So I wasn't party to the agreement and I don't know the underlying -- you know, how the reasons for agreement came about, but we believe that we need to follow the advice of our advisor and make the adjustment on our PILs return.

MS. HELT:  Well, you also note at the evidence update to Staff Interrogatory 4(a), again, document C-36, on page 2 near the bottom of the page -- you say, with respect to virtual utilities, it is the last two sentences.  It starts with, "Since none of the parties".  Do you see where I am reading from?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, I do.

MS. HELT:  I am just going to read this:
"Since none the parties in EB-2008-0381 were virtual utilities, the interested virtual utilities in regard to number 7 were not canvassed.  As such, while the settlement on issue number 7 may be the general rule regarding post employment benefit liabilities, an exception should be recognized by the Board for virtual utilities."

So you are accepting, by that statement, that it is -- the Board's decision does provide a general rule with respect to post employment benefit liabilities; would you agree with that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  I think the Board's decision reflected the facts of the settlement agreement that it was placed before them and may not have included our specific issues for what our PILs liabilities will be.

MS. HELT:  And you also -- in that response, you say an exception should be recognized.  And is that exception based on the fact that Kingston Hydro is a virtual entity in this regard?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, it is.

MS. HELT:  And are there any other reasons why an exception ought to be granted?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  In the Board's findings in the decision that they did issue, the Board -- on page 2 of the decision, the Board stated under "Board Findings" that it accepts the general principles that arise --


MS. HELT:  Yes.  Sorry.

MR. MURPHY:  The Board stated that it does accept the general principles that arise from those elements with respect to the issues within the scope of this proceeding.

Then it goes on to say:
"The Board intends, where appropriate, to apply such principles when considering applications from the remaining distributors that were not party to this proceeding."

And we believe that our situation is different and needs to be reconsidered as part of our rate application hearing.

MS. HELT:  So, in essence, you are saying that this would not be an appropriate situation for the Board to apply the principles as set out in the decision?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  And the only basis that you have provided is that Kingston Hydro is a virtual entity and, as such, an exception ought to be made?

MR. MURPHY:  Sorry, I didn't catch the last part.

MS. HELT:  The only reason given by you for being granted an exception to the application of this principle with respect to post employment benefits is because Kingston Hydro is a virtual entity?

MR. MURPHY:  That, and when we went to prepare the application, there was no specific guidance for PILs calculations that I could find.  There was general guidance, plus the model itself.

So I referred to the last Distribution Rate Handbook, the 2006 Rate Handbook, and it says on page 58 of the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, paragraph 3, that:
"The tax amount included in rates reflects taxes payable as a result of operating the distribution business rather than taxes calculated for accounting purposes."

So if we don't add these back appropriately for Kingston Hydro, we are in fact calculating taxes for accounting purposes as opposed to our real taxes payable.

MS. HELT:  But I don't understand, and perhaps you could just clarify this for me.  If you don't have any employees, how can there be anything payable?

MR. MURPHY:  There is an amount payable through the agreement, the service agreement.

So we do have these expenses and liabilities as Kingston Hydro, which we have been told by our tax advisor are not deductible.

MS. HELT:  And is that specifically set out in the services agreement?

MR. MURPHY:  It is not specifically.  It is an overarching principle that we operate on.

MS. HELT:  And this is what was discussed previously today?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, it was.

MS. HELT:  But you do confirm that you don't issue any T4 slips, as you don't have any employees?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  With respect to the response to the second round Board Staff Interrogatory 9(f) concerning the burden rate, you have stated that -- I'm sorry, I don't have the document, but I do have a quote with respect to what you said.  But it is related to second round Board Staff Interrogatory 9(f):
"The burden rate charged by Utilities Kingston to Kingston Hydro does not include a component for post employment benefits.  Rather the component for post employment benefits is included as a separate payable to Utilities Kingston and is charged at year end as per the response to evidence update Staff interrogatory 4(d)(i)."

Can you please explain why the component for post employment benefits is not included in the burden rate?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The burden rate is charged as a current expense for current benefits.  So the burden rate includes current benefits payable, such as CPP, EI, et cetera.

The post employment portion of the benefits, we don't get the information until well after year end for that, and then the entry is made.

MS. HELT:  And on that note, can you explain why the liability or obligation for post employment benefits is recorded on the books of Kingston Hydro?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, because we try to ensure that each of our utilities is fairly allocated the portion of the Utilities Kingston's post employment benefits liabilities.

And, therefore, Kingston Hydro has a portion of those, and that is why the liability is shown on Kingston Hydro's balance sheet.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Can you also just describe any tax advantages to both Utility Kingston and Kingston Hydro for structuring Kingston Hydro as a virtual utility?

MR. MURPHY:  Off the top of my head, no.  I can't see any tax advantages for either company with our structure.

MS. HELT:  And are there any tax advantages of the structure with respect to the component for post employment benefits?

MR. MURPHY:  No, I don't know of any.

MS. HELT:  If I can just have a moment, please?

Just one other question with respect to the PILs issue.  In response to second round Interrogatory No. 9, a table has been provided under part (e) of that question.  And it deals with the actuarial update of the City of Kingston's December 31st, 2007 retirement benefit and accumulated sick leave valuation results to December 31, 2009.

I am just going to ask if you have an update to that table, or a more current 2010 table --


MR. MURPHY:  No.

MS. HELT:  -- valuation.

MR. MURPHY:  No, we don't.  We don't have that yet.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  You will be pleased to know we are now on Issue No. 7, with respect to the 7.25 percent interest rate on the long-term debt.  I only have a few questions with respect to this.

Several questions have already been asked with respect to the repayment to the city with respect to the monies owing to it, and why the City of Kingston debt is held at 7.25 percent and other long-term debt is held at lower percentages.

You did indicate previously today that 1.5 million has been paid back to the City of Kingston; you would agree with that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  It was part of a restructuring, I believe, at the end of 2004.

MS. HELT:  Have you asked the city since that time to make further repayments?

MR. MURPHY:  No.  No, we haven't.

MS. HELT:  And the reason for that is what?

MR. MURPHY:  There has been no need for us to look at repaying that debt.  There is no principal component required by us to repay.

The million-and-a-half dollars that was repaid back in 2004 was repaid as part of a reorganization that was done to remove Utilities Kingston as a subsidiary of Kingston Hydro to a subsidiary of another company owned by the City of Kingston, to try and separate Kingston Hydro.

And a lot of that was driven by GAAP and consolidation requirements for Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, at the time.

MS. HELT:  All right.  At Energy Probe IR 31(c), which is found in our compendium at C11, Kingston Hydro is asked whether it has investigated the possibility of refinancing some or all of the remaining outstanding balance payable at a rate lower than the 7.25 percent.

I will just wait for you to turn up that document.  That is at part (c).  I just have a question with respect to your response.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  You note that you haven't investigated the possibility of refinancing because of restrictions in the eligible expenditures regulation under the Municipal Act.

Can you just explain for me or advise me where those restrictions are set out in the regulation, or what they are?

MR. TAYLOR:  Maybe I could help.  That is a regulation to the Municipal Act.  It is called Eligible Investments Regulation.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  But what are the restrictions specifically being referred to?

MR. TAYLOR:  Once they pay it back, they're not allowed to -- the municipality is not allowed to issue any further debt.  That's it.  Once they pay it back, it's gone.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And would you know offhand, Mr. Taylor, what section that is of the regulation?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I wouldn't offhand.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Maybe I will follow up with you with respect to that.

MR. TAYLOR:  I think you should look for the words "the day before" and then you will find the section.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  One other question is:  Are you aware of the Board's distribution rate decision on the Erie Thames application?

We have a copy of it here.  I am just going to provide it to you to make reference to.  Oh, I understand that my colleague has already provided it to you.

Perhaps, Panel, we can mark this as Exhibit K1.5, the Erie Thames decision EB-2007-0928.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  DECISION IN EB-2007-0928.

MS. HELT:  You will note that we have only provided the operative pages of the decision that we would like to refer to, those being pages 20 to 23.

And if I can just refer to page 21 of the decision, it notes in the second paragraph, which is only two lines:

"Energy Probe concurred with Erie Thames' proposed capital structure and noted that the ROE as announced by the Board on March 7th should be 8.57 percent."

The paragraph below that talks about the parties' submissions on the debt rate, and notes that:

"All submitted, the allowed debt rate for municipal debt should be 6.1 percent, rather than the 7.25 percent as proposed by the Applicant.  Board Staff submitted that the updated deemed long-term debt rate should apply based on the following paragraphs from Section 2.2.1 of the Board Report."

And there, it quotes that section of the Board report, saying:

"For all variable rate debt and for all affiliate debt that is callable on demand, the Board will use the current deemed long-term debt rate."

Can you explain, given that decision of the Board, what the reasons are that the affiliate debt of Kingston Hydro would not apply to that?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  First, in answer to your -- I think your first question, I wasn't aware of this decision.
However, when we looked at the cost-of-capital report of the Board, December 11th, 2009, in preparing our application, page 54 of the second bullet point was followed by Kingston Hydro, in that:

"For debt that is callable on demand, the deemed long-term debt rate will be a ceiling on the rate that is allowed."

And it goes on to say that:

"Debt that is callable but not within the period to the end of the test year will have its debt considered as if it is not callable."

So our debt is not callable in the test year, so we proceeded with the original embedded debt rate of 7.25 percent.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Mr. Taylor, your re-direct?
Re-Examination by Mr. Taylor:

MR. TAYLOR:  I just have two questions.

There was a question earlier from Mr. Aiken regarding apprenticeship tax credits.

It is not clear to me whether or not there are apprenticeship tax credits available to Utilities Kingston that haven't been passed on to Kingston Hydro, or there just aren't any apprenticeship tax credits available to Utilities Kingston.

MR. MURPHY:  We have not -- so Utilities Kingston has not received any apprenticeship tax credits, and we don't feel that we have ever had the qualifications to qualify for those credits.

If we did, and the apprentices related to the hydro distribution business, those tax credits would be passed on to Kingston Hydro from Utilities Kingston.

MR. TAYLOR:  All right.  Thank you.  And my last question is:  Mr. Keech, before when I explained that we would have an opportunity to redirect, you looked like you wanted to say something but didn't want to interrupt anyone.

Do you still have something that you wish to add or have you addressed it already?

MR. KEECH:  I have an area that I would like to clarify, if possible.

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.

MR. KEECH:  And this was when the questions were being proposed in regards to page 16 of Energy Probe's document they handed out this morning, there was a chart -- it was this one here.  There were some questions that Mr. Joyce was responding to.

MR. TAYLOR:  Which page?

MR. KEECH:  It is page 16 of 42.

MR. TAYLOR:  All right, thank you.

MR. KEECH:  And I just would like to offer a couple of comments or clarifications.  There were a number of questions in regards to the 1820 distribution station equipment expenditures for 2012 and 2013.

And my first comment is this chart comes from our evidence at 2.4.8.1.  Now, the more significant point that I want to make, it is part of our evidence 2.4.8, which is our asset management planning process and strategy.

And I think that is the main point I want to make.  This is not a budgetary document, so to speak.  This is part of our asset management planning and process strategy.  So it is looking at the budgets coming -- or budgets being considered as part of asset management.

And I think that people are aware there is a distinction there between what you would do for asset management planning and actual budgeting.

So this is a fair amount of theoretical as opposed to what we would normally do for budgeting.

The other question that was directly asked in regard to the substations, if I could just take the time to read a comment on page 9 of 9 of the section I just mentioned, which was Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 8, page 9 of 9.  I am at the very bottom, starting at 17.  It says:
"Kingston Hydro has included as Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 8, attachment 1 a summary of its forecast for 2012 and 2013 expenditures."

Which is what we were looking at:
"For 2013 fiscal year it is worth noting that the planned rebuild of substation number 1, which services the downtown area of the City of Kingston, is being planned.  This is a multi-year project with preliminary planning and engineering occurring in 2011 and 2012 and construction to occur 2013 and 2014."


So I just want to confirm that the 9-1/2 million is directly related to number 1 substation, because I think there was some concern around that.

The other one I want to address is 2012, the 1.5 million.  There were direct questions in regard to:  Is number 3 -- number 3 substation -- I just want to make sure I had the right one -- that was added, that there was a number of questions around, was the breakers for that in 2012?

And in reviewing the asset management plan and the other documentation here, I am fairly comfortable in saying that that would have been part of the asset management plans or the projections for 2012.  So I just wanted to offer that as clarification.  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Further Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I wonder if I could ask for an evidence reference for that, because I got a different answer from the other witness.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, an evidence reference as distinct from the exhibit that Mr. Keech just gave us?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Mr. Keech in redirect has just said something contradictory to the answer I got from the original question, so I would like to get where the evidence says that, that it is in the 2012 budget.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay, Mr. Keech, can you help us with that?

MR. KEECH:  My recollection was that Mr. Joyce indicated that he wasn't sure.

So the reason that I was offering this evidence was just to offer some clarification.  I don't think I was disputing what Mr. Joyce had said.

MS. CONBOY:  Are you turning the mic on or off?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually stabbing it.

I had understood the evidence to be that the 2012 number did not include that or probably did not include that, because the 1.5 included some of the station 1 work, but -- so there wouldn't be room for $968,000.

So what I am asking is:  Does the evidence somewhere show station 3 in 2012?  If it doesn't, that's fine.  I just want to know that; that's all.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Keech?

MR. KEECH:  Yes.  Thank you.  So, no, there is no direct evidence in here that says that.

Just to clarify what I said, in reviewing what is in our evidence and the realization that the breakers at number 3 were going to need replacing, I am fairly confident in saying that that is in the 2012, and my other point was there is direct evidence here to what is in 2013.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Okay.
Procedural Matters:


MS. CONBOY:  Well, I think the parties have had an opportunity to talk about dates for next steps, including the argument-in-chief.

MS. HELT:  That's correct, Madam Chair.  I have had the opportunity to discuss the issue with a few of the parties.  What I would propose to the Panel to consider, subject to any further comments any of the parties may make, are that the argument-in-chief would be delivered and filed by March 11th.

The Board Staff argument would be filed April the -- I'm sorry, March 29th.  It seems like a long break in between, but there is the March break that is being taken into account.  And then the intervenor argument to be filed April 1st.

MS. CONBOY:  Have the parties had a chance to absorb those dates and there is no comment on those?

Is there a suggestion, Ms. Helt, for reply from the applicant or Mr. Taylor?

MS. HELT:  Well, I believe April 1st is a Friday, so the -- I don't know how much -- what, you would like one week?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I would like to have two.

MS. HELT:  Two weeks.

MR. TAYLOR:  Please.

MS. HELT:  That would be April 15th.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Well, I think that seems reasonable and we can formalize that in a procedural order.

Thank you.  I have been suggested by my Panel Member that a procedural order perhaps is not necessary and that we can accept that on the record.

So thank you very much.  Witness panel, I know it has been a long day for you, but you are excused.

MR. TAYLOR:  Madam Chair, can I just ask, on the issue of the intervenor costs, where did we land on that?

MS. CONBOY:  If you will just give me a minute, please, Mr. Taylor?

I think we are going to leave this as an open issue, Mr. Taylor, and if parties feel they would like to comment further, add to what they have commented on today on the record, we will allow for that, and the Board will issue its decision.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:39 p.m.
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